Behavioral Mechanisms Underlying Nicotine Reinforcement

Laura E. Rupprecht, Tracy T. Smith, Rachel L. Schassburger, Deanne M. Buffalari, Alan F. Sved and Eric C. Donny

Abstract Cigarette smoking is the leading cause of preventable deaths worldwide, and nicotine, the primary psychoactive constituent in tobacco, drives sustained use. The behavioral actions of nicotine are complex and extend well beyond the actions of the drug as a primary reinforcer. Stimuli that are consistently paired with nicotine can, through associative learning, take on reinforcing properties as conditioned stimuli. These conditioned stimuli can then impact the rate and probability of behavior and even function as conditioning reinforcers that maintain behavior in the absence of nicotine. Nicotine can also act as a conditioned stimulus (CS), predicting the delivery of other reinforcers, which may allow nicotine to acquire value as a conditioned reinforcer. These associative effects, establishing non-nicotine stimuli as conditioned stimuli with discriminative stimulus and conditioned reinforcing properties as well as establishing nicotine as a CS, are predicted by basic conditioning principles. However, nicotine can also act non-associatively. Nicotine directly enhances the reinforcing efficacy of other reinforcing stimuli in the environment, an effect that does not require a temporal or predictive relationship between nicotine and either the stimulus or the behavior. Hence, the reinforcing actions of nicotine stem both from the primary reinforcing actions of the drug (and the subsequent associative learning effects) as well as the reinforcement enhancement action of nicotine which is non-associative in nature. Gaining a better understanding of how nicotine impacts behavior will allow for maximally effective tobacco control efforts aimed at reducing the harm associated with tobacco use by reducing and/or treating its addictiveness.

Keywords Reinforcement \cdot Reward \cdot Operant \cdot Self-administration \cdot Nicotine \cdot Conditioning

L.E. Rupprecht · R.L. Schassburger · D.M. Buffalari · A.F. Sved Department of Neuroscience, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA 15260, USA

T.T. Smith · A.F. Sved · E.C. Donny (☒)
Department of Psychology, University of Pittsburgh, 3137 Sennott Square, 210 S. Bouquet Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15260, USA e-mail: edonny@pitt.edu

Contents

1	Introduction	20
2	Nicotine Self-administration	21
	2.1 Outcome Measures	22
	2.2 Route, Dose, and Rate of Nicotine	23
	2.3 Food Restriction	25
	2.4 Session Length	25
	2.5 Sex and Age	26
	2.6 Other Compounds in Cigarette Smoke	28
3	Primary Reinforcing Actions of Nicotine	31
4	Associative Learning and the Influence of Stimuli Predicting the Effects of Nicotine	32
	4.1 Conditioned Responses to Nicotine-Associated Stimuli	32
	4.2 Nicotine-Associated Stimuli as Conditioned Reinforcers	33
	4.3 Nicotine-Associated Contexts as Discriminative Stimuli	34
	4.4 Individual Differences in Associative Learning Effects	35
5	Associative Learning and the Influence of Nicotine as a Predictor of Other	
	Reinforcers	36
6	Reinforcement-Enhancing Effects of Nicotine	36
	6.1 Reinforcement-Enhancing Effects of Nicotine Occur Across Routes	
	of Administration	37
	6.2 Reinforcement-Enhancing Effects of Nicotine Occur Across Age and Sex	39
	6.3 Reinforcement-Enhancing Effects of Nicotine Occur in Humans	40
	6.4 Enhancement is Moderated by the Type and Nature of the Reinforcer	40
	6.5 Implications of the Reinforcement-Enhancing Effect of Nicotine for Tobacco	
	and Other Nicotine-containing Products	42
7	Summary and Conclusions	43

1 Introduction

Cigarette smoking is the leading cause of preventable morbidity and mortality worldwide, resulting in about 4.9 million deaths per year. It is widely accepted that nicotine is the primary psychoactive and reinforcing component of tobacco that produces the addictive state underlying sustained use of cigarettes and other tobacco products (Stolerman and Jarvis 1995; USDHHS 1988).

Despite the clinical observations that tobacco products are quite addictive and success rates for quitting tobacco use are low (USDHHS 1988, 2012), experimental evidence suggests the primary reinforcing properties of nicotine, by itself, are weak. Indeed, when considering the primary reinforcing properties of nicotine compared to other drugs of abuse, the addictive power of tobacco products is surprising. However, the reinforcing properties of nicotine are much more complex than simple primary reinforcement from the drug. In addition to nicotine acting as a primary reinforcer, other stimuli that are consistently paired with nicotine can, through associative learning, take on reinforcing properties as conditioned stimuli. These conditioned stimuli can then impact the rate and probability of behavior and even function as conditioning reinforcers that maintain behavior in the absence of nicotine.

Nicotine can also act as a conditioned stimulus (CS), predicting the delivery of other reinforcers, which may allow nicotine to acquire value as a conditioned reinforcer. These associative effects, establishing non-nicotine stimuli as conditioned stimuli with discriminative stimulus and conditioned reinforcing properties as well as establishing nicotine as a CS, are predicted by basic conditioning principles. However, nicotine can also act non-associatively. Nicotine directly enhances the reinforcing efficacy of other reinforcing stimuli in the environment, an effect that does not require a temporal or predictive relationship between nicotine and either the stimulus or the behavior. Hence, the reinforcing actions of nicotine stem both from the primary reinforcing actions of the drug (and the subsequent associative learning effects) as well as the reinforcement enhancement action of nicotine which is non-associative in nature. Together, these two actions constitute what has been referred to as the "dualreinforcement" model of nicotine reinforcement (Caggiula et al. 2009; Chaudhri et al. 2006b; Donny et al. 2003). Nicotine as a CS/reinforcer has received less attention, but potentially functions as a third mechanism underlying nicotine reinforcement (Bevins 2009). These actions serve as the basis for this chapter.

2 Nicotine Self-administration

The gold standard for studying the reinforcing properties of drugs in experimental animals is self-administration in which animals need to perform a behavioral task (e.g., press a lever, poke their nose into a hole) to obtain the drug. Hence, the focus of the chapter is on self-administration studies. Data from other procedures such as conditioned place preference (CPP), in which animals choose between an environment previously paired with the drug and one never paired with the drug, are incorporated when they provide additional insight. Most nicotine self-administration studies have used rats (Corrigall and Coen 1989; Donny et al. 1995), although self-administration has been demonstrated across a wide range of species including humans, non-human primates, dogs, and, more recently, mice (Corrigall 1999; Fowler and Kenny 2011; Goldberg et al. 1983; Le Foll and Goldberg 2005; Matta et al. 2007; Stolerman 1999).

However, it is important to appreciate that depending on the details of the methodological approach, multiple actions of nicotine might be occurring together and underlie the observed behavior. Historically, nicotine self-administration procedures in rats have utilized a protocol in which nicotine delivery is paired with a stimulus such as a cue light, chamber light, or tone. That stimulus might function as a primary reinforcer and/or acquire conditioned reinforcing properties after repeated association with nicotine infusion delivery. The reinforcing effects of that stimulus might then also be affected by the non-associative effects of nicotine. Thus, self-administration procedures often do not distinguish between primary reinforcement, reinforcement enhancement, and associative effects that may emerge over repeated experimental sessions. When considering data from nicotine self-administration studies, it is essential to understand the details of the methodological approach and

be mindful of the different actions of nicotine that may underlie the observed behavior. This complexity is arguably an appropriate model for tobacco use in people in which the interaction between nicotine and concurrent stimuli is reality and these multiple reinforcing actions of nicotine are integrated to support behavior.

The reinforcing effects of nicotine are affected by a number of important moderating variables. For example, the duration and route of administration of nicotine delivery and the sex and age of subjects impact the reinforcing properties of nicotine and are highly relevant when considering the reinforcing properties of tobacco products. Furthermore, in the context of tobacco products, other chemical constituents found in tobacco products that would be delivered along with nicotine may interact with nicotine to alter its complex reinforcing properties. Moderating variables are discussed in more detail below.

Although humans typically self-administer nicotine in the context of tobacco products, laboratory studies have shown than people will work for nicotine. This research, typically conducted with infusions of nicotine paired with a novel light stimulus, shows that nicotine supports behavior that is dose dependent and schedule dependent and different from vehicle (Harvey et al. 2004; Henningfield and Goldberg 1983). Smokers also report subjective experiences consistent with the rewarding effects of nicotine (Sofuoglu et al. 2008). Although limited, these human laboratory studies confirm the basic observations from experimental animals, supporting the validity of the preclinical models that form the basis of this chapter.

2.1 Outcome Measures

It is worth noting that while most self-administration studies focus on measuring response or infusion rates during stable periods of self-administration as the key dependent measures, there are several other important measures that may reflect the reinforcing properties of nicotine. In particular, the rate at which rats acquire selfadministration likely reflects the reinforcing actions of nicotine (i.e., the more the reinforcing, the faster the rats will acquire the behavior). Similarly, the percentage of rats self-administering nicotine should also reflect the reinforcing properties of nicotine under those conditions. Like stable rates of nicotine self-administration that are maintained over multiple sessions, the rate and percentage of rats acquiring is dose related and might be particularly sensitive to changes in the reinforcing properties of nicotine. For example, self-administration on a fixed ratio (FR) 2 schedule for a low dose of nicotine (7.5 µg/kg/infusion) compared with a maximally effective dose (60 µg/kg/infusion) develops more slowly and in a smaller percentage of rats, but the level of self-administration ultimately attained is similar (Smith et al. 2014b). Many researchers also measure the willingness of an animal to work for a reinforcer, in this case infusions of nicotine, by increasing the number of responses required for an infusion within a session [progressive ratio (PR)] (Donny et al. 1999). Other measures such as the latency to start responding or earn an infusion, responding during a time out period, or responding despite an additional negative consequence have received relatively little attention but might provide additional insight into the factors controlling behavior (e.g., latency to first infusion may be a reflection of the influence of the context on behavior).

2.2 Route, Dose, and Rate of Nicotine

The pharmacological actions of nicotine are mediated through its interactions with nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChR), which are located in many sites throughout the brain and rest of the body (Leslie et al. 2013). Multiple subtypes of nAChR comprised of many subunit compositions have differing affinities for nicotine and kinetics (Picciotto et al. 2001). Thus, it is not surprising that the reinforcing actions of nicotine are dependent upon dose, route of administration, and temporal aspects of delivery (Le Foll and Goldberg 2005).

Nicotine self-administration protocols predominantly use methods that deliver infusions intravenously over a brief period of 1-5 s (Matta et al. 2007). The use of short-duration intravenous (iv) infusions is based on the understanding that drugs that rapidly reach the brain are considered more reinforcing and have increased abuse liability (Benowitz 1990; Samaha and Robinson 2005), and the assumption that nicotine inhaled from cigarette smoke is rapidly absorbed into the pulmonary circulation and thus reaches the brain 5-10 s following inhalation (Russell and Feyerabend 1978). Additional puffs of cigarette smoke provide additional pulses of nicotine, superimposed on an increasing blood level of nicotine (Rose et al. 1999). Importantly, rapid discrete (iv) infusions of nicotine support self-administration (Corrigall and Coen 1989; Donny et al. 1995; Matta et al. 2007). In selfadministration procedures that use cues (e.g., a cue light located above the active lever or other operandum associated with (iv) nicotine delivery), rats reliably selfadminister nicotine in the 10–60 µg/kg/infusion range (Chaudhri et al. 2007; Donny et al. 1995, 1998, 1999). Several studies directly examining the impact of prolonging infusion duration on self-administration of nicotine (Wakasa et al. 1995; Wing and Shoaib 2013) determined that short-duration infusion delivery supported greater responding, as might be expected from other abuse liability research (Ator and Griffiths 2003; Busto and Sellers 1986; Farre and Cami 1991; McColl and Sellers 2006; Samaha and Robinson 2005).

On the other hand, it has recently been argued that the rapid (iv) infusion of nicotine (<5 s) typically used in rat self-administration studies, coupled with single infusion doses that are on par with the quantity of nicotine delivered in an entire cigarette (i.e., $10-30~\mu g/kg/cigarette$ for a 70 kg individual), does not accurately represent the increase in plasma nicotine concentration of a person smoking a cigarette (Sorge and Clarke 2009; Rose et al. 1999). To model the dose of a single cigarette puff and the seconds-to-minutes long rise in arterial nicotine concentration, smaller doses delivered over a longer infusion duration may be required. "Puff-sized" doses modeling that delivered in a single puff of a cigarette might be closer to $1-10~\mu g/kg$ nicotine, and the (iv) infusion duration might be several tens of seconds to better model tissue

nicotine delivery from smoking cigarettes. Sorge and Clarke (2009) performed a series of experiments designed to more closely mimic nicotine delivery in human smokers and determine optimal dose/duration combinations chosen by rats in a concurrent access protocol. First, to test the reinforcing value of nicotine (15 ug/kg/ infusion) delivered over different lengths of time, adult male rats self-administered infusions delivered over 3, 30, 60, or 120 s in a cued protocol. On a FR 1 schedule of reinforcement, there was no effect of infusion duration on infusions earned; however, on an FR 5 schedule, rats self-administered equal numbers of infusions of 3 and 30 s lengths, which were significantly greater than more prolonged infusion durations. Rats given the opportunity to respond on different levers to deliver 3- or 30-s infusions of nicotine (15 µg/kg) selected the 30-s infusion duration significantly more than the 3-s duration (10 vs. 6 infusions during 2-h sessions). Analysis of the dose–response effects of nicotine using this prolonged 30-s infusion duration determined that on an FR 1 schedule, doses between 3 and 30 µg/kg supported self-administration, and all doses above 3 ug/kg supported self-administration on an FR 5 schedule of reinforcement. The authors concluded that rats prefer slow infusions to fast when given a choice and that rats will self-administer a wider range of nicotine doses, including "puff-sized" doses, when the infusion duration is prolonged to this 30-s range.

Other data, however, are inconsistent with this observation. The low doses shown to support behavior with prolonged infusions (i.e., 3 and 10 μ g/kg/infusion) have also supported robust self-administration with 1-s infusions in cued paradigms (Bardo et al. 1999; Donny et al. 1995; Smith et al. 2013, 2014b). Furthermore, unpublished data from our laboratory comparing infusions of nicotine delivered over 1 or 20 s found little difference in responding for both 3.75 and 10 μ g/kg/infusion nicotine. Groups exhibited a difference in responding for 30 μ g/kg nicotine, with animals receiving the rapid 1-s infusion earning nearly double the infusions earned by the group receiving slow 20-s infusions. Other studies have produced mixed results with moderate increases in infusion duration of nicotine finding either no evidence of self-administration using 6-s infusions or even a moderate but significant increase in infusions earned by mice receiving 3-s compared to 1-s nicotine infusions (Belluzzi et al. 2005; Fowler and Kenny 2011).

What is clear from the published literature is that there is no consensus and considerable variability, regarding the impact of infusions in the range of 1 s ("rapid" infusion), which has been standard in most nicotine self-administration studies, to tens of seconds ("slow" infusion). Discussion of the rate of (iv) delivery should not simply focus on what rate supports the most robust self-administration. What infusion profile best models nicotine delivery in people depends on the tobacco product or nicotine delivery system (e.g., electronic cigarette or nicotine patch) being considered. This issue will become increasingly important as new nicotine delivery devices are developed and their abuse liability is evaluated. Additionally, simply comparing rates of nicotine self-administration may miss important differences in underlying mechanism. For example, Sorge and Clarke (2009) have reported the intriguing observation that dopamine antagonists differentially impact nicotine self-administration depending upon whether nicotine is delivered via "rapid" or "slow" infusions. Likewise, other moderating variables

(e.g., cues) may be more or less important depending on the rate of nicotine delivery. Indeed, whereas the primary reinforcing actions of nicotine, along with the associative actions derived from them, require discrete infusions of nicotine contingent on behavior, the non-associative reinforcement enhancement actions of nicotine are observed with slow, even systemic, administration, as well as rapid (iv) infusions (Caggiula et al. 2009).

2.3 Food Restriction

Most self-administration studies of addictive drugs, including nicotine, are conducted on mildly food-restricted rats, with food limited to approximately 80 % of the amount of food consumed with unlimited access. This food restriction maintains weight gain, though at a rate below what is observed with unlimited access to food. Experimental animal models of drug abuse use food restriction for a variety of reasons. Constraining growth might prolong patency of the catheter. It might also be argued that animals are not normally exposed to easy access to unlimited food sources and that unlimited access results in overweight and unhealthy animals (Abelson 1995; Speakman and Mitchel 2011). Most importantly, food restriction leads to higher levels of responding in operant procedures and contributes to the overall motivational state of the animal (Lang et al. 1977). Food restriction typically results in more robust self-administration and self-administration of low doses of nicotine that is not observed without food restriction (Corrigall and Coen 1989; Donny et al. 1998; Singer et al. 1978). This increase in self-administration may simply result from the animals being more likely to explore their environment and respond on operanda, as chronic calorie restriction leads to an increase in physical activity prior to food availability (Duffy et al. 1990; Russell et al. 1987). Interestingly, there is evidence that calorie restriction also increases cigarette use in human smokers (Cheskin et al. 2005). It is important to emphasize, however, that food restriction is not required for rats to acquire self-administration behavior for nicotine (Donny et al. 1998; Peartree et al. 2012; Yan et al. 2012). Whatever the explanation for why moderate food restriction enhances nicotine self-administration (and responding in other operant procedures as well), the imposition of this "motivational state" is an important variable in nicotine self-administration procedures.

2.4 Session Length

The vast majority of nicotine self-administration studies rely on daily (or 5 day per week) sessions lasting an hour or a few hours. Other studies allow more continual self-administration access, allowing rats to respond for nicotine infusions for 22 or 23 h/day with a short break for cleaning the operant chambers. Rats readily self-administer nicotine in both limited and extended access procedures, and

importantly, the dose–response relationship for self-administration is similar (Matta et al. 2007). Extended access procedures result in greater daily nicotine intake, although the rate of infusions per hour is reduced. Given the more continuous nature of extended access, animals are more likely to develop nicotine dependence as a results of nicotine exposure that is maintained for a prolonged period each day and may undergo withdrawal if access to nicotine is terminated or pharmacologically precipitated (O'Dell et al. 2007), or even just with significant gaps in selfadministration. Consequently, dependence may result in another reinforcing action supporting additional behavior that is not observed in the limited access procedures, negative reinforcement related to withdrawal suppression. Interestingly, Cohen et al. (2012) observed that if periods of extended access are spaced with one or two days of no access, the rates of self-administration are substantially greater compared to both extended access without those breaks and limited access sessions with similar days of no access. In contrast, others have argued that limited and extended access paradigms produce comparable levels of dependence (Paterson and Markou 2004). Despite these potential differences, most studies continue to use limited access because of practical issues and limited access protocols are well suited to examine the reinforcing properties of nicotine in the absence of issues associated with withdrawal.

2.5 Sex and Age

The sex of a subject may also moderate (iv) nicotine self-administration, an important issue to consider given that there are sex differences in tobacco use. Although men are more likely than women to smoke, data from human studies and national surveys of smoking behavior suggest that sex differences are complex and could differentially impact susceptibility to initiate tobacco product use, the progression to dependence, and difficulty with successful cessation (Benowitz and Hatsukami 1998; Brady and Randall 1999; Carroll et al. 2004; Kim and Fendrich 2002; Lynch et al. 2002; Lynch 2006, 2009). These differences may be related to differences in pharmacokinetics and metabolism (Jensvold et al. 1996; Kyerematen et al. 1988), brain development, physiology and function (Berchtold et al. 2008; Chambers et al. 2003), and circulating reproductive hormones (Becker and Hu 2008; Breslau and Peterson 1996; O'Hara et al. 1989; Perkins et al. 1999). Women have also been shown to be more reactive to nicotine-associated cues (Perkins et al. 1999, 2001) and stress, which may lead to a greater propensity to relapse (Perkins et al. 2013; Schnoll et al. 2007; Xu et al. 2008).

Sex differences in tobacco use can be recapitulated in rat models of nicotine self-administration suggesting a biological basis. Adult female rats have been shown to respond more for nicotine, although they also demonstrated increased responding on an inactive lever (Chaudhri et al. 2005). In other studies using nicotine paired with a visual stimulus (VS) (discussed more below), male and female rats acquired nicotine self-administration at a comparable rate and to similar asymptotic levels within a

standard range of nicotine doses (30–90 µg/kg/infusion), but females acquired self-administration faster and reached higher break points on a PR schedule of reinforcement at lower doses of nicotine (Donny et al. 2000; Lanza et al. 2004). In a 23-h extended access test, adult female rats had higher rates of responding for a large dose (60 µg/kg/infusion) than adult males rats (Grebenstein et al. 2013). Finally, females may experience greater withdrawal from nicotine, particularly those related to anxiety/stress (for review, see O'Dell and Torres 2014). However, to our knowledge, sex differences related to negative reinforcement have not been evaluated.

Similarly, the age of a subject may also influence nicotine reinforcement. Approximately 90 % of adult daily smokers initiated use prior to the age of 18, and nearly all adult smokers began prior to the age of 25 (CDC 2012; USDHHS 2012). National surveys of high school students report that 23 % of students are current users of tobacco products (use on at least 1 of the last 30 days) (CDC 2010). Earlier initiation of smoking increases the likelihood that someone will become a heavy smoker, be more dependent, and have greater difficulty quitting (USDHHS 2012). These epidemiological data suggest that adolescence represents a period of vulnerability to nicotine use and dependence. Adolescents are biologically driven to seek novelty and risk (Spear 2000) and are also more reactive to stress and unable to modulate their response in a productive way (Chambers et al. 2003). Although the preclinical literature examining developmental differences in nicotine use and reinforcement is limited and varied in approach, collectively, the findings suggest that there are differences in the reinforcement of nicotine between adolescents and adults.

Adolescent rats have been shown to self-administer nicotine at rates compared to adults across a range of doses (Chen et al. 2007; Levin et al. 2007, 2011; Natividad et al. 2013). In a direct comparison of adolescent to adult females, adolescent females self-administer significantly more nicotine than adults (Levin et al. 2003). A study testing nicotine self-administration in male and female adolescents found that both sexes responding similarly for nicotine infusions compared to adult rats (Chen et al. 2007); however, female adolescent rats acquired nicotine self-administration more quickly and reached higher rates of responding than adult rats. Lynch (2009) evaluated differences in self-administration of nicotine between male and female adolescents in a long-access paradigm. Again, female adolescents displayed the most robust self-administration behavior under a FR 1 and a PR schedule of reinforcement (Lynch 2009).

Another issue that comes up in relation to the adolescent period is whether exposure to nicotine during adolescence alters nicotine self-administration in adulthood. Rats exposed to experimenter-administered nicotine as adolescents showed increased nicotine self-administration (Adriani et al. 2003; Natividad et al. 2013) as adults compared to animals only exposed to nicotine during adulthood. These data in rodents support the epidemiological data and hypothesis that early exposure to nicotine may heighten the reinforcing actions of nicotine in adults. However, studies from Shram et al. (2008a, b) suggest that adolescence is not a period of enhanced sensitivity to the reinforcing actions of nicotine, noting the lack of a difference in nicotine self-administration between adult and adolescent rats on FR 1 and FR 2 schedules of reinforcement, and greater responding by adults on an

FR 5 and PR schedule of reinforcement. Further complicating the influence of age are moderating variables such as stress. When treated with yohimbine, an alpha-2 adrenergic receptor antagonist that many laboratories use to model a stress response, adolescent females reached significantly higher break points and earned more nicotine infusions than adolescent males at all doses of nicotine tested (7.5, 15, 30 μ g/kg/infusion), suggesting greater reactivity after a stressor-like challenge (Li et al. 2014; Zou et al. 2014). These data in rodents support the epidemiological data that female adolescents may be more sensitive to the reinforcing properties of nicotine, particularly with an additional stressor (McKee et al. 2003).

In CPP protocols, adolescent rats and mice have been shown to develop a preference after a single nicotine treatment (adults do not), exhibit a larger degree of preference for nicotine than adults, including at lower doses of nicotine, and lack of an aversion at high doses of nicotine (Belluzzi et al. 2004; Brielmaie et al. 2007; Kota et al. 2007; Torres et al. 2008; Vastola et al. 2002). Additionally, animals exposed to nicotine as adolescents showed increased CPP as adults (Adriani et al. 2006).

In sum, the preclinical literature predominantly supports the epidemiological data from smokers that nicotine reinforcement may differ between males and females and that adolescence is a period of heightened susceptibility to the reinforcing effects of nicotine. Additional research utilizing animal models is critical for understanding the biological basis of age- and sex-related differences in nicotine reinforcement. Although these studies can be technically challenging (e.g., catheter patency in young animals, estrous cycle variation), they provide an opportunity for experimental manipulations that are not possible in a clinical setting and therefore can contribute to a better understanding of the causal relationship between development, sex, and nicotine reinforcement.

2.6 Other Compounds in Cigarette Smoke

The reinforcing properties of nicotine can be modified by other chemicals in the tobacco product. In cigarettes, nicotine is typically taken along with more than 8,000 other chemicals (CDC 2010). Research on several of the compounds in tobacco smoke have suggested that they may be psychoactive and have abuse potential by themselves and potentiate the abuse liability of nicotine (Hoffman and Evans 2013). Non-nicotine compounds in cigarette smoke that may have reinforcing value or contribute to the reinforcing actions of nicotine include, but are not limited to, acetaldehyde, minor alkaloids (e.g., nornicotine, myosmine, cotinine, anabasine, anatabine), and β-carbolines (e.g., harman and norharman). Investigating these smoke constituents, alone and in combination with nicotine, is critical for a better understanding of the reinforcing properties of cigarettes. However, the best methodology for studying the reinforcing potential of these constituents is complicated. For example, given that most of these constituents exist in cigarette smoke at concentrations much lower than nicotine, what doses are appropriate for investigation? Should constituents be investigated in isolation or combined?

Acetaldehyde, one smoke constituent, has received a fair amount attention. It is one of several aldehydes present in tobacco smoke (Houlgate et al. 1989; Xie et al. 2009), resulting from the combustion of polysaccharides, as well as being added in the manufacture of commercial cigarettes. Acetaldehyde is also the major metabolite of ethanol and has previously been a focus of alcohol-abuse liability research (Correa et al. 2012; Deng and Deitrich 2008). Nicotine and alcohol are often consumed together, adding to the importance of studying the interaction between nicotine and acetaldehyde. Acetaldehyde by itself acts a reinforcer and has been shown to be self-administered orally (Peana et al. 2010, 2011), intravenously (Myers et al. 1982, 1984a, b; Takayama and Uyeno, 1985), and directly into the brain (Amit et al. 1977; Brown et al. 1979; Rodd-Hendricks et al. 2002) by rats. Animals also prefer chambers paired with acetaldehyde in CPP experiments (Melis et al. 2007; Quertemont and De Witte 2001; Peana et al. 2008; Smith et al. 1984; Spina et al. 2010). Taken together, these results suggest that acetaldehyde has reinforcing properties.

Importantly, acetaldehyde may also interact with nicotine to potentiate the magnitude of reinforcement. Early studies within the tobacco industry examined whether acetaldehyde might potentiate nicotine self-administration. Denoble and colleagues tested the ability of nicotine and acetaldehyde to be self-administered by rats alone or in combination, across a range of doses (0-16 µg/kg/infusion for both drugs) with the goal of isolating dose combinations that would produce the highest levels of reinforcement (DeNoble and Mele 1983). Importantly, acetaldehyde supported higher levels of responding than nicotine at equal doses. The combination of nicotine and acetaldehyde enhanced responding for infusions as compared to responding for infusions of either drug alone. The augmented responding for the combination was most robust at low doses of nicotine (2-8 µg/kg/infusion) and at the highest dose of acetaldehyde (16 µg/kg/infusion) tested. The doses of nicotine and acetaldehyde required to produce maximal responding for (iv) infusions were quite different from what is in cigarettes, where acetaldehyde concentrations are approximately half that of what is observed for nicotine. More recently, Belluzzi et al. (2005) reported that adolescent male rats robustly self-administered a mix of nicotine (30 µg/kg/infusion) and acetaldehyde (16 µg/kg/infusion) while not selfadministering either substance individually, which better models the nicotine-toacetaldehyde ratio in cigarettes. Interestingly, this interaction between acetaldehyde and nicotine was not observed in adult rats. However, this study used a somewhat unusual set of conditions (i.e., 5.6 s infusions, ad libitum feeding, FR 1, 3-h sessions, only 5 self-administration sessions) in which nicotine alone is not selfadministered to a significant degree. Taken together, these studies highlight the possibility that acetaldehyde administered along with nicotine can increase the reinforcing properties of nicotine, at least under some conditions.

Although nicotine is the primary alkaloid found in tobacco, accounting for roughly 95 % of the alkaloid content, other alkaloids (nornicotine, myosmine, cotinine, anabasine, and anatabine) are also present (Huang and Hsieh 2007). These minor alkaloids are similar in structure to nicotine, and some are metabolites of nicotine (Crooks et al. 1997). A limited body of data suggests that some of these minor alkaloids might have reinforcing properties, but only at doses much higher

than or equal to nicotine (Bardo et al. 1999; Caine et al. 2014). In a test of whether rats would self-administer a combination of nornicotine, myosmine, cotinine, anabasine, and anatabine, with doses indexed to their concentration in cigarette smoke relative to nicotine, the alkaloid cocktail did not support self-administration behavior (Clemens et al. 2009). These limited results provide evidence that large doses of some minor alkaloids may have positive reinforcing properties by themselves, but the reinforcing effects of these constituents are likely weak at doses that more closely approximate the levels in tobacco (relative to nicotine). More importantly, this mix of five minor alkaloids appeared to enhance the reinforcing actions of nicotine, especially at lower doses of nicotine (Clemens et al. 2009). Using a cued protocol with 4-s infusions, rats self-administered a solution containing 30 µg/kg/infusion of nicotine along with the minor alkaloids significantly more than just nicotine. The increase in self-administration associated with the coadministration of the minor alkaloids was dependent on the reinforcement schedule (it was observed at FR 5 and PR schedules but not FR 1 or FR 2) and appeared to be larger at smaller doses of nicotine. However, the minor alkaloids co-administered along with nicotine also increased locomotor activity compared to just nicotine and increased inactive responding on the FR 5 schedule to the same extent as it increased active responding, raising questions as to whether this interaction between minor alkaloids and nicotine results from increased reinforcement. Relatedly, acute systemic treatment with anabasine (20 µg/kg), but not anatabine, nornicotine, myosmine, harman, and norharman, increased the number of nicotine infusions (30 µg/kg/infusion) earned by periadolescent female rats (Hall et al. 2014). However, larger doses of anabasine, anatabine, and nornicotine, when administered systemically prior to nicotine self-administration sessions, suppress the number of infusions (Mello et al. 2014; Caine et al. 2014; Hall et al. 2014). Although results are limited and mixed, studies like these emphasize the need for increased attention to the interaction between nicotine and other alkaloids that might naturally be consumed along with nicotine.

An alternative approach to examining whether the additional compounds in cigarettes contribute to the reinforcing properties of nicotine in cigarettes is to evaluate self-administration of an extract produced from tobacco or smoke. Recently, Costello et al. (2014) compared self-administration of an aqueous extract of cigarette smoke to that of pure nicotine in adult male rats. At low concentrations of nicotine (3.75 and 7.5 μ g/kg/infusion), self-administration was enhanced by the other components in the extract, but self-administration was not different at the highest dose of nicotine tested (15 μ g/kg/infusion). While one interpretation of their data is that the other non-nicotine components in their extract enhanced the reinforcing properties of nicotine, it may instead be that these other chemicals in the extract are themselves reinforcing since there was no test of self-administration of a denicotinized extract. Still, self-administration of nicotine in the extract was attenuated by a nicotinic receptor antagonist, suggesting that effects on the nAChR were important for producing the increase in self-administration.

Recently, significant attention has focused on the potential role of MAO inhibition on nicotine reinforcement. This attention derives from clinical studies demonstrating

that both MAO A and MAO B are 30–40 % inhibited in the brains of smokers relative to non-smokers (Berlin et al. 1995; Fowler et al. 1996a, 1996b). Precisely which constituents account for this level of inhibition is unknown. The β-carbolines, harman and norharman, may contribute to both the inhibition of MAO and the impact on nicotine reinforcement. In a study of the impact of monoamine oxidase (MAO) inhibition on nicotine self-administration, norharman was given chronically to inhibit MAO, resulting in a potentiation of self-administration (Guillem et al. 2005). However, the dose of norharman was substantially higher than that actually delivered in tobacco smoke. Since the constituents in cigarette smoke that lead to MAO inhibition are unknown, several studies in rats have attempted to understand the impact of MAO inhibition on nicotine reinforcement using known MAO inhibitors that are not present in tobacco smoke. Using drugs such as tranyleypromine and phenylzine to inhibit MAO, studies have consistently shown increased self-administration of nicotine, especially at low doses of nicotine (Smith et al. 2014a; Villegier et al. 2007a, b). Three points are worth making here. First, large doses of drugs that inhibit MAO appear to increase the reinforcing properties of nicotine (Smith et al. 2014a; Villegier et al. 2007a, b). Second, the interpretation of these data is complicated by the possibility that the effects produced by large doses of MAO inhibitors may be due, at least in part, to actions of these drugs other than MAO inhibition (Loftipour et al. 2011; Villegier et al. 2007a, b). Third, studies published to date have not examined partial inhibition, as seen in smokers.

As the preceding paragraphs make clear, studying which constituents in addition to nicotine that might impact reinforcement may provide important insight into how nicotine, in the form of tobacco products, reinforces behavior. This work is still in its infancy and the challenge of untangling the role of other constituents can be daunting; namely, it is not clear what constituents should demand experimental focus and how to best model the potential interactions between constituents. However, it is also important to recognize that in the absence of nicotine, these data show these other constituents (in the levels found in tobacco products) are not reinforcing. This observation affirms the conclusions reached over the last several decades that nicotine is the primary addictive substance in tobacco. Hence, these other constituents are still best viewed as potential moderators of the effects of nicotine; they do not appear to be sufficient for maintaining tobacco-use behavior.

3 Primary Reinforcing Actions of Nicotine

As described up to this point, rats will self-administer nicotine in operant protocols. However, these are typically cued protocols that do not distinguish among primary reinforcement, reinforcement enhancement (discussed below), and the associative processes that may then result over repeated experimental sessions. If there were no external cues that were associated with nicotine delivery, then only the primary reinforcing action of nicotine would be present to support self-administration behavior. The few studies that have examined nicotine without additional

associative cues provide support for nicotine acting as a primary reinforcer (Chaudhri et al. 2007; Donny et al. 2003; Palmatier et al. 2006; Sorge et al. 2009). For example, Sorge et al. (2009) allowed rats to acquire nicotine self-administration (15 µg/kg/infusion; infusions delivered over 30 s). Though few infusions were earned across the sessions and rats acquired very slowly, acquisition criterion was met without additional cues to support behavior (Sorge et al. 2009). However, the dose range that supports self-administration is narrow, relatively few infusions are earned, and the rate of behavior does not increase in proportion to changes in the schedule of reinforcement (Caggiula et al. 2002a; Chaudhri et al. 2005, 2007; Donny et al. 2003). Certainly, the bulk of the reinforcing actions of nicotine in typical self-administration procedures cannot be explained as primary reinforcement alone. The next section will begin to dissect the role of environmental cues and their importance for maintaining smoking behavior.

4 Associative Learning and the Influence of Stimuli Predicting the Effects of Nicotine

As a consequence of the relatively weak reinforcing effects of nicotine alone, most self-administration procedures use cues paired with nicotine delivery. The use of cues is not an inherent flaw in the rodent model of human smoking, as all nicotine self-administration in humans is cued in some way. These environmental stimuli can function in multiple roles including as conditioned stimuli that trigger conditioned responses (CRs), conditioned reinforcers, and discriminative stimuli (see chapter entitled Neurobiological Bases of Cue- and Nicotine-induced Reinstatement of Nicotine Seeking: Implications for the Development of Smoking Cessation Medications; this volume).

4.1 Conditioned Responses to Nicotine-Associated Stimuli

As a result of Pavlovian conditioning, stimuli paired with nicotine can elicit CRs (Pavlov 1927). A typical Pavlovian conditioning preparation involves an existing reflexive relationship between a stimulus (unconditioned stimulus, US) and response (unconditioned response, UR). In this case, nicotine (US) results in a wide range of behavioral and physiological changes (UR). Then, an originally neutral stimulus is paired with the presentation of nicotine. Following one or more pairings, the originally neutral stimulus elicits a CR in the absence of the US and is now called a CS. In this case, any environmental stimulus that is consistently predictive of nicotine may come to serve as a CS and elicit a CR. In an operant procedure, the CS might be a light or a tone paired with nicotine delivery (provided the cue does not initially by itself elicit the response). In the context of cigarette smoking, the look or feel of a cigarette, the taste of tobacco, lighters, the cigarette pack, the smoking corner outside of the office, the effects of alcohol, certain friend groups,

etc., might all function to elicit CRs, even in the absence of subsequent nicotine delivery, because they have previously been repeatedly paired with nicotine.

Evidence that stimuli associated with nicotine can elicit a CR come from a wealth of both animal and human literatures suggesting that smoking stimuli increase craving or desire to smoke cigarettes (Conklin and Tiffany 2002b; Lazev et al. 1999; Wertz and Sayette 2001). This craving is often considered to be a CR that results from the pairing of these stimuli with nicotine delivery (Conklin and Tiffany 2002a). Evidence from our laboratory has shown that tolerance to the antinociceptive and corticosterone (CORT) elevating effects of nicotine can be abolished if nicotine is delivered in a novel context (Caggiula et al. 2002b). These data suggest that the tolerance that develops is a result of a CR to the environmental stimuli that reliably predict nicotine delivery. When these environmental stimuli are absent, there is no CR and nicotine has the same effect as the first administration. This study highlights an important issue: While a CR is often similar to the UR, it can sometimes be in the opposite direction, called a compensatory CR (Siegel 1988). In this example, nicotine (US) results in antinociceptive and CORT elevation (UR). The stimuli (CS) that are paired with nicotine (US) may result in a CR opposite of that effect, so that nicotine delivery produces a smaller change than it would have acutely.

Nicotine-associated stimuli result in CRs that increase the likelihood of engaging in smoking behavior both while nicotine is being actively self-administered and as a trigger to reinitiate nicotine seeking. In relation to the former, it is well accepted that the presentation of cues paired with reward results in increased responding for the reward, even if they were never presented contingent upon the response (Rescorla and Solomon 1967), a phenomenon known as Pavlovian to instrumental transfer (see chapter entitled A Hierarchical Instrumental Decision Theory of Nicotine Dependence; volume 23). This phenomenon has received relatively little attention in animal models of nicotine self-administration, but would suggest that the mere presence of CS might facilitate both nicotine taking and other forms of reinforced behavior. The more common conceptualization of how CS influence nicotine seeking occurs during abstinence or following extinction when the CS trigger a motivational state or action schema that can lead to the experience of craving (Berridge and Robinson 2003; Tiffany, 1990). Indeed, cue-elicited craving is reliably linked to smoking in abstinent individuals (Sayette and Tiffany 2013), although this effect is not clear when assessed in non-abstinent smokers (Perkins 2009). Hence, CS can elicit a wide range of CRs including responses that may impact the probability or intensity of nicotine-seeking behavior.

4.2 Nicotine-Associated Stimuli as Conditioned Reinforcers

Because smoking stimuli have been paired with nicotine, and nicotine functions as an unconditioned (i.e., primary) reinforcer, these cues can come to reinforce behavior on their own (i.e., become conditioned reinforcers). In a stringent test of this effect, rats with a history self-administering nicotine paired with a CS learned to

perform a novel response that was only reinforced by the CS (Palmatier et al. 2007). Likewise, rodent self-administration research has demonstrated that the continued delivery of cues after nicotine has been removed will maintain responding, and this rate of behavior is higher than if cues are also removed (Markou and Paterson 2009). Clinical research confirms that, over the course of a week or so, smokers will continue to smoke low-nicotine-content cigarettes (Donny et al. 2007; Donny and Jones 2009), with moderate to no decrease in smoking behavior. Furthermore, denicotinized cigarettes have been shown to substitute for nicotine-containing cigarettes better than nicotine gum (Johnson et al. 2004), and the delivery of smoking stimuli has been shown to increase ratings of liking and satisfaction better than (iv) nicotine (Rose et al. 2000). These data clearly indicate that these cues associated with nicotine can reinforce behavior.

Likewise, clinical experimental studies show that individuals who try to refrain from smoking are significantly more likely to lapse regardless of the nicotine content of those cigarette; even cigarettes with very little nicotine increased the probability of relapse compared to not smoking (Juliano et al. 2006). These data indicate that interacting with smoking stimuli may precipitate smoking behavior during abstinence. The presentation of nicotine-associated cues has also been shown to increase previously extinguished self-administration behavior in experimental animals in a phenomenon known as cue-induced reinstatement (LeSage et al. 2004). Cue-induced reinstatement is very robust; indeed, the magnitude of reinstatement is greater when it is induced by cue presentation than by nicotine (LeSage et al. 2004). Upon cessation of nicotine use, cues should eventually undergo extinction as they no longer reliably predict nicotine delivery (Caggiula et al. 2001; Cohen et al. 2005; Liu et al. 2007, 2008, 2010). However, extinction is context dependent (Wing and Shoaib 2008; Bouton 2011), so extinction learning would need to occur in multiple contexts before cues would be fully extinguished, a potentially lengthy process.

4.3 Nicotine-Associated Contexts as Discriminative Stimuli

Smoking cues and contexts can also serve as discriminative stimuli, which tend to be broader contextual stimuli, signaling when behavior will result in reinforcement. In a typical discrimination preparation, individuals learn that a behavior will result in reinforcement in the presence of one stimulus and will not result in reinforcement in the absence of that stimulus (Skinner 1953). For learning to take place, the probability of reinforcement in the presence of the stimulus must be greater than the probability of reinforcement when the stimulus is absent. In self-administration paradigms, rodents undoubtedly learn that the operant chamber signals the availability of nicotine, although rodents unavoidably spend some time in the chamber when nicotine is not available (right before the session is started, right after the session ends, during time out periods post-infusion when the drug may no longer be available). Some researchers use other stimuli (cue lights, house lights, tones) to signal the start of the session or to signal "time in" (Belluzzi et al. 2005;

Grebenstein et al. 2013; Hall et al. 2014). The presence of these stimuli will increase the likelihood of engaging in the reinforced response. This issue is considered in more detail elsewhere in the book.

These contextual stimuli make conducting human laboratory smoking research difficult because smoking behavior has not been previously reinforced in the laboratory context and conclusions drawn from studies conducted in laboratory environments may not extend to the natural environment. In two studies, smokers were asked to smoke cigarettes with very low nicotine contents. In a study conducted in an in-patient hospital unit, there was a decrease in smoking behavior when smokers switched to these low-nicotine cigarettes (Donny et al. 2007). However, smoking behavior did not change when a similar study was conducted in the natural environment (Donny and Jones 2009). These data parallel the work by Wing and Shoaib (2008) in which extinction was shown to proceed more quickly in a novel environment not associated with previous nicotine self-administration. It may have been easier for smokers to learn that smoking no longer resulted in nicotine delivery in a completely novel context than the natural environment in which smoking behavior had a long history of being reinforced across many contexts (Conklin 2010; Wray et al. 2011).

4.4 Individual Differences in Associative Learning Effects

There is likely a large degree of variability in the degree to which these cues are involved in smoking behavior between individuals. One theory posits that all individuals learn about cues in their environment, but there is variability in the degree to which these cues are "wanted" (Robinson and Berridge 2000; Robinson et al. 2014). In rodent models, animals that show attraction toward cues have higher break points for cocaine on progressive ratio schedules (generally considered to be an indicator of motivation to obtain drug) (Saunders and Robinson 2011), the development of cocaine-paired CPP (Meyer et al. 2011), greater cocaine sensitization upon repeat treatment (Flagel et al. 2008), and greater cue-induced reinstatement (Yager and Robinson 2010). Future research may provide important insight into the variability observed in nicotine self-administration and the role of cues following nicotine reduction. Sex may be another determinant of cue effects. On average, women are more likely to be affected by smoking cues than men, who may be more directly influenced by nicotine (Perkins 2009; Perkins et al. 2002). However, preclinical work does not support this idea. One study evaluated cueinduced and nicotine-primed reinstatement in male and female rats (Feltenstein et al. 2012). There were no sex- or estrous cycle-dependent differences between male and female rats. Still, expanding this line of research is important for cessation, where women may have less success with nicotine replacement therapy because smoking stimuli are more critical in the maintenance of smoking behavior (Perkins et al. 2002).

5 Associative Learning and the Influence of Nicotine as a Predictor of Other Reinforcers

A very different line of research investigates the role of nicotine as a cue for other stimuli. For example, rats can learn to respond on one lever for food if they have received an injection of nicotine and respond on another lever if they received a saline injection (Stolerman 1989). In these experiments, nicotine signals that one behavior will be reinforced and another will not. Relatedly, humans can learn to engage in one response if they receive nicotine nasal spray and another response if they receive saline spray (Perkins et al. 1994). Researchers have extended this finding to show that nicotine, when paired with a reinforcer, even when it is not contingent upon behavior, can increase the rate of behavior directed at the location of reinforcer delivery (i.e., goal tracking; Besheer et al. 2004).

The role of nicotine as a predictor of other reinforcers in acquiring or maintaining smoking behavior is unclear. However, nicotine delivery is paired with many reinforcing stimuli in the natural environment, and nicotine may function as a CS and a conditioned reinforcer, through this pairing. For example, an adolescent who receives peer acceptance when engaging in smoking behavior may experience nicotine as a conditioned reinforcer because of this repeated pairing over time (i.e., nicotine predicts peer acceptance). It is difficult to show experimentally that nicotine can acquire additional reinforcing value through this association because nicotine has existing primary reinforcing value. However, research has shown that pairing diazepam, an anxiolytic, with money can result in a preference for diazepam, highlighting the ability of drugs to acquire reinforcing value through pairing with other reinforcers (Alessi et al. 2002). Nicotine may also come to elicit CRs as a result of pairing with other drugs of abuse, although there is no existing research in this area. Drugs such as alcohol, marijuana, and caffeine are frequently co-used with nicotine. Smokers who have a cigarette with their morning coffee may associate nicotine with coffee and enjoy cigarettes even on mornings when they choose decaffeinated coffee.

6 Reinforcement-Enhancing Effects of Nicotine

The primary reinforcing effects of nicotine and the consequent associative and conditioned reinforcing properties of nicotine are important in driving smoking behavior, but additional non-associative effects of nicotine on reinforced behavior may be equally important. Nicotine potentiates the reinforcing properties of other rewards. This latter effect occurs independent of any predictive relationship between nicotine and either the other stimulus or the target behavior (Caggiula et al. 2009).

In the first study to describe the effect of nicotine on responding maintained by other stimuli in the environment, male adult rats were allowed to respond for nicotine, saline, and/or a VS (VS; the 1-s onset of a cue light above the active lever

and the 60-s offset of the chamber light) in a between groups design (Donny et al. 2003). Response-contingent nicotine, by itself, results in very low rates of responding and, in some cases, failed to support self-administration. Interestingly, responding for the VS, which has been used previously as a drug cue (Corrigall and Coen 1989; Donny et al. 1995), supported behavior even in the absence of nicotine, suggesting the VS functioned as an unconditioned reinforcer. This finding is consistent with data describing that sensory stimuli can function as reinforcers (Fowler 1971, Harrington 1963). Importantly, pairing nicotine with the VS produced a synergistic, not just additive, effect on behavior. Responding was more than twice the sum of response rates produced either by nicotine alone or the VS alone. This is consistent with previous studies demonstrating the importance of environmental cues in nicotine self-administration (Caggiula et al. 2001, 2002a, b; Cohen et al. 2005), but also raised questions about the nature of the relationship between nicotine and the VS. The synergistic effects seemed disproportional with the reinforcing properties of the two stimuli. However, this study included a critical control condition that provided a potential answer to these questions. In this group, animals were allowed to respond for the VS while receiving infusions of nicotine that were controlled by (yoked to) another animal. Remarkably, there were no differences in responding for the VS during acquisition between the contingent and non-contingent nicotine conditions. Both contingent and non-contingent infusions of nicotine resulted in the synergistic enhancement of responding for a VS compared to responding for the VS with saline infusion (Donny et al. 2003). Therefore, the increase in responding by the pairing of nicotine with the VS could not be explained by the VS functioning as a CS.

Enhancement of the reinforcement by nicotine is entirely consistent with extensive data on the effects of nicotine, and other drugs of abuse, on intracranial self-stimulation (ICSS) and CPP. In ICSS studies, a stimulating electrode is typically placed in the posterior lateral hypothalamus and rats respond for brain stimulation reward. Systemic (Harrison 2002) and self-administered (Kenny and Markou 2006) nicotine lower the threshold for ICSS, indicating that nicotine enhances the rewarding properties of brain stimulation. Likewise, early studies demonstrated that psychostimulants enhance responding for conditioned stimuli (Beninger 1980; Robbins and Koob 1978). Although these studies were never extended to nicotine, they highlight that these effects are not unique to nicotine, an observation we have also made (Chaudhri et al. 2006b).

6.1 Reinforcement-Enhancing Effects of Nicotine Occur Across Routes of Administration

It is possible that the pattern of nicotine delivery may affect responding for the VS. In particular, yoked infusions of nicotine might result in intermittent unintentional pairings between nicotine and responding for the VS, leading to an associative relationship. To test whether the observed enhancement was due to spurious

associations, responding for the VS was tested in rats receiving either rapid noncontingent infusions independent of responding for the VS, a constant nicotine infusion over the 1-h period, or contingent nicotine infusion (Donny et al. 2003). Despite the varied patterns of nicotine delivery, all rats had similar elevated levels of responding for VS presentations compared to saline. Similarly, systemic injection of nicotine administered before the session and even acute treatment with osmotic minipumps enhances responding for VS presentations. These data support the hypothesis that nicotine can directly enhance behavior maintained by unconditioned non-pharmacological reinforcers and that the enhancement is not dependent on a discrete temporal relationship with the stimulus or the behavior. Importantly, replacing nicotine with saline resulted in an immediate reduction in responding to levels similar to controls. Furthermore, reinstating nicotine to contingent and non-contingent groups immediately increased responding to preextinction levels (Chaudhri et al. 2007; Donny et al. 2003; Palmatier et al. 2007). These basic observations have now been replicated many times across a range of doses, routes of administration, schedules of reinforcement, and reinforcing stimuli, including conditioned reinforcers (Chaudhri et al. 2005, 2006a; Donny et al. 1999; Palmatier et al. 2006).

To further examine the relative contribution of the primary reinforcing and the reinforcement enhancement properties of nicotine, we utilized a paradigm in which rats had the option to respond for nicotine and the VS independently (Palmatier et al. 2006). The primary group of interest pressed one active lever for the presentation of the VS and another lever for infusions of nicotine. A separate group of rats (nicotine + VS) had standard self-administration operanda: One active lever controlled both the presentation of the VS and nicotine infusion. Control groups received either nicotine infusions (nicotine only) or VS presentations (VS only) contingent upon behavior on the active lever (the other lever was inactive). Nicotine alone and VS alone maintained relatively moderate levels of behavior and access to both reinforcers on one lever resulted in synergistic enhancement of responding, as we had previously reported. Surprisingly, when rats had access to each reinforcer on a separate lever, responding on the nicotine lever was low, about equivalent level to that of the nicotine only group. However, responding for the VS lever was enhanced by the same magnitude as the nicotine + VS group. Additional studies from our laboratory have demonstrated that the metabotropic glutamate five receptor antagonist MTEP can suppress responding for nicotine alone, with no effect on the reinforcement-enhancing properties of nicotine, indicating that the primary and enhancing reinforcement properties of nicotine can be pharmacologically dissociated (Palmatier et al. 2008). To our knowledge, there are no data indicating what neural mechanism(s) may be responsible for the reinforcing enhancement properties of nicotine. These collective studies indicate that the reinforcement-enhancing properties of nicotine are potent even when only a small amount of the drug is administered that the effects are behaviorally and pharmacologically dissociable and that the high rates of self-administration observed in the paired group is likely due to the reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine (Palmatier et al. 2006, 2008).

Additional studies by Chaudhri et al. (2006a) demonstrated that in rats that acquired self-administration across a range of nicotine doses in the absence of a pairing with a non-pharmacological stimulus, the addition of the VS resulted in an immediate and robust increase in responding. These results are important because they (1) replicate the observation that rats will acquire responding for nicotine self-administration without coincident non-pharmacological stimuli, but that this effect depends on larger doses of nicotine, and (2) demonstrate that the effect of the addition of the VS was most prominent at low doses of nicotine.

Taken together, these studies emphasize why responding for nicotine infusions is so robust in the presence of a non-drug stimulus: It is not the nicotine per se but the synergistic interaction between nicotine and non-pharmacological stimuli that produces a significant increase in behavior. Environmental stimuli with reinforcing value paired with nicotine increase the rate of acquisition of nicotine self-administration and the rate of maintained self-administered behavior independent of the route and speed of nicotine delivery (Caggiula et al. 2009; Chaudhri et al. 2006a).

6.2 Reinforcement-Enhancing Effects of Nicotine Occur Across Age and Sex

Until recently, the majority of research on the reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine has been conducted in adult male rats. However, the enhancing effects have been demonstrated in adolescent male rats as well. Work from our laboratory assessed whether responding for the VS was enhanced by exposure to nicotine in adolescent (postnatal day 29–42), male rats (Weaver et al. 2012). Like adults, adolescent rats responded for presentations of the VS and subcutaneous (sc) nicotine just prior to the session increased responding for the VS. The effect was qualitatively similar to that observed in adults at the dose tested. Similarly, adolescent male rats (P39–40) tested in a CPP procedure using social reward (i.e., a "playmate") found that nicotine increased the amount of time spent on the side of the chamber paired with a social playmate (Theil et al. 2009). To date, potential developmental differences in the reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine have not been thoroughly examined.

Another important question given that female rats acquire nicotine self-administration more quickly and reach higher break points on a PR schedule when nicotine is paired with the VS (Donny et al. 2000; Lanza et al. 2004) is whether there are sex differences in the reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine. To our knowledge, this question has not been directly addressed. Studies suggest, however, that there are sex differences in self-administration of both nicotine alone and in combination with the VS. In a study by Chaudhri et al. (2005), animals first acquired responding for contingent nicotine infusions without additional non-pharmacological stimuli. Females earned more infusions of moderate to large (60–120 μ g/kg) doses of nicotine than males. Then, the VS was added with active lever presses resulting in delivery of both the nicotine infusion and the VS. The addition of VS caused

a doubling in responding in both sexes when animals were self-administering 30 or 60 μ g/kg/infusion (Chaudhri et al. 2005). A separate group of male and female rats were allowed to respond for VS presentations without a nicotine infusion and confirmed that the VS functioned as a primary reinforcer in females as well as males, suggesting the potentiation in self-administration may have been driven by the reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine in both sexes.

6.3 Reinforcement-Enhancing Effects of Nicotine Occur in Humans

The ability of nicotine to enhance reinforcement for other stimuli is well established in the rodent model, but whether reinforcement enhancement is important in human smokers has received less attention. Studies to date, however, are consistent with the animal literature. Smoking increased ratings of attractiveness (Attwood et al. 2009) and reported feelings of happiness during happy films (Dawkins et al. 2007). Likewise, transdermal nicotine increases the response bias toward a rewarded stimulus (Barr et al. 2008). Furthermore, abstinence from smoking reduces the blood-oxygen-level-dependent response to monetary rewards in the caudate. Finally, in the most direct study of reinforcement-enhancing effects in humans, Perkins and Karelitz evaluated the ability of nicotine to enhance operant responding for a variety of rewards in smokers (Perkins and Karelitz 2013a). Participants were dependent and non-dependent smokers that were deprived of nicotine at the start of the study and asked to respond on a PR schedule adapted for human subjects for a designated music reward. Smoking was able to enhance responding for high preference music, as compared to no smoking and smoking at low levels that are subthreshold for enhancement (Perkins and Karelitz 2013a). The implications of these results are discussed in detail below, but they provide clear evidence that nicotine enhances reinforcement in humans.

6.4 Enhancement is Moderated by the Type and Nature of the Reinforcer

If a stimulus has little or no reinforcing value (i.e., neutral), nicotine should have no effect on enhancing the rewarding properties of that stimulus unless it gains conditioned reinforcing value (as discussed above). In a study designed to test this hypothesis, we compared the effects of systemic non-contingent injections on two sensory stimuli that differed in their unconditioned reinforcing effects. During sessions of acquired stable behavior, rats responded significantly more for a houselight-off stimulus (5-s extinction of the houselight paired with an 83-dB tone) than a lever light-on stimulus (5-s onset of a stimulus light above the active lever paired with an 83-dB tone), indicating that the houselight-off stimulus has higher incentive value.

Saline injections had no effect on behavior. Nicotine caused an increase in responding for the houselight-off stimulus, but with no effect on the lever light-off stimulus. These results support the notion that nicotine has the ability to non-associatively enhance responding only for stimuli with reinforcing value.

More recent studies have further confirmed our hypothesis that the magnitude of the nicotine-induced enhancement is modulated by the strength of the reinforcer. The quantitative relationship between the enhancing effects of nicotine and the incentive value of the reward was tested using rats responding on a PR schedule of reinforcement for the delivery of liquid sucrose (0, 5, 20, and 60 %; Palmatier et al. 2012). Systemic, non-contingent injection of nicotine enhanced the responding for sucrose reward. The break point reached (final number of responses required for reward delivery) was potentiated by nicotine, with the magnitude of enhancement increasing with increasing sucrose concentration. These results are particularly interesting, as they raise the possibility that the reward enhancement effects of nicotine may override other pharmacological actions of nicotine, as nicotine is known to be a potent appetite suppressant. In fact, when the sucrose solutions (2.5, 5, and 10 %) were available on a reinforcement schedule that demanded low responding rates for each reward delivery (FR 3), nicotine reduced responding. As has been previously suggested, the effects of nicotine may dependent on the schedule of reinforcement because nicotine has multiple actions on food reinforcement; nicotine may enhance satiety when food is relatively freely available and enhance the reinforcing efficacy of food when it is relatively restricted (Donny et al. 2011).

Work from our laboratory has also established that nicotine has the ability to enhance responding for conditioned reinforcers. Work by Chaudhri et al. 2006a, b used a light-tone stimulus as a CS predictive of sucrose pellet delivery. Both contingent and non-contingent delivery of nicotine enhanced responding for a light-tone stimulus when it had been previously paired with sucrose, but not if the stimulus was not predictive of sucrose. Extending this work to a nicotine-associated CS, Palmatier et al. (2007) trained animals to lever press for nicotine paired with as unconditioned light stimulus. Animals were then allowed to nosepoke for the CS alone and demonstrated the predicted conditioned reinforcing effects (as described above). Interestingly, non-contingent delivery of nicotine further increased the rate of responding for the CS (Palmatier et al. 2007), confirming that non-contingent nicotine can enhance responding that is maintained solely by a nicotine-associated conditioned reinforcer.

Work investigating the ability of nicotine to enhance reward in humans has found similar results. One study tested whether smoking enhanced responding for music reward on a PR schedule (Perkins and Karelitz 2013a). Participants were instructed to bring a pack of their own cigarettes and a music album of their choice. Different music was designated as high, moderate, or low reward based on the participants own rating of the music on a 0–100 visual analog scale (VAS). Participants completed three 2-h sessions, each after overnight abstinence, with different levels of smoking prior to assessing responding to hear different segments of music. As our hypothesis would predict, smoking enhanced responding and this was only observed when music was preferred (Perkins and Karelitz 2013a).

Minimal (couple puffs) or no smoking had no effect on behavior. Hence, the effect of nicotine on reinforced behavior in humans depends both on the level of smoke exposure and the degree to which the reward is preferred.

Furthermore, in a separate study investigating that ability of nicotine to enhance responding for reward in humans, smoking after abstinence was able to enhance responding for a preferred music reward, but not for monetary reward (Perkins and Karelitz 2013b). These data suggest that the reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine differ depending on reinforcer type (e.g., more apparent with "sensory" reinforcers). However, it is possible that the small monetary rewards (participants earned an average of about \$1.20 in a 2-h session) were effectively neutral and thus not able to be enhanced by nicotine.

Together, these studies provide evidence that the reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine are dependent upon the reinforcer being presented (Barret and Bevins 2013; Palmatier 2012; Perkins and Karelitz 2013b). Neutral or mild reinforcers as less likely to be impacted by nicotine unless the value of those reinforcers is increased as a consequence of being paired with another reinforcer. In addition, some reinforcers may be more prone to the reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine or be masked by other effects of nicotine in some conditions, for example, "sensory" reinforcers and food, respectively.

6.5 Implications of the Reinforcement-Enhancing Effect of Nicotine for Tobacco and Other Nicotine-containing Products

In comparison with the primary reinforcing actions of nicotine, the reinforcement enhancement actions of nicotine are seen with lower doses and drug delivery that is not temporally tied to behavior. Thus, for example, patch delivery of nicotine might enhance other reinforcers (and may contribute to its efficacy as a smoking cessation aid) but is unlikely to have primary reinforcing actions (Barr et al. 2008). Similarly, new tobacco products that provide nicotine delivery that is neither rapid nor discrete will likely favor the reinforcement enhancement actions of nicotine as opposed to the primary reinforcing actions. E-cigarettes, for example, are perceived favorably by young adults, especially when appealing flavorants are added to the product (Choi et al. 2012). Given the ability of nicotine to enhance responding for sucrose reward (Barret and Bevins 2013; Palmatier et al. 2012; Schassburger et al. 2013), it is possible that nicotine by "vaping" an e-cigarette might enhance the reinforcing properties of the flavorant within that e-cigarette.

Conversely, understanding the potentially different neuropharmacological mechanisms underlying the primary reinforcing and the reinforcement-enhancing actions of nicotine may impact the development of smoking cessation pharmacotherapies. Interestingly, both bupropion (Caggiula et al. 2009) and varenicline (Levin et al. 2012), both FDA-approved prescription pharmacotherapies for the treatment of smoking cessation, can substitute for the reinforcement-enhancing

effects of nicotine, which may partially underlie their efficacy as pharmacotherapies. To test the ability of bupropion to enhance the reinforcing valence of VS presentations, nicotine or bupropion was systemically administered across sessions (Palmatier et al. 2009). Both nicotine and bupropion increased responding for VS presentations. As expected, the nicotine enhancement was abolished by the administration of mecamylamine, a non-selective nicotinic antagonist. Mecamylamine had no effect on the enhancement caused by buproprion; the bupropioninduced enhancement was blocked by the administration of an alpha adrenergic receptor antagonist, indicating that the reinforcement-enhancing effects of these drugs are pharmacologically dissociable. Levin et al. (2012) tested the effects of systemic administration of varenicline, a partial nicotinic agonist, on responding for VS presentations with and without co-administration with nicotine (Levin et al. 2012). Varenicline dose dependently increased VS presentations earned, as well as suppressed nicotine-induced enhancement. As current over-the-counter nicotine replacement therapies are largely ineffective tools in supporting smoking cessation (Kotz et al. 2014), it might be more beneficial to target the development of new medications at the reinforcement-enhancing actions of nicotine, as that seems to be a primary mechanism for nicotine self-administration.

7 Summary and Conclusions

Nicotine reinforcement is remarkably complex and requires understanding of both associative and non-associative mechanisms well beyond the primary reinforcing effects of the drug itself. From an associative perspective, environmental stimuli that predict nicotine delivery can become conditioned stimuli eliciting CRs that increase the probability of smoking. They will also become conditioned reinforcers through their pairing with nicotine, an unconditioned reinforcer, and will reinforce smoking behavior on their own. Contextual stimuli can become discriminative stimuli, increasing the probability of engaging in smoking behavior. Nicotine can also enter into associative relationships through its pairing with other reinforcing stimuli in the environment and consequently function as a CS or as a conditioned reinforcer, both of which may increase the likelihood of engaging in smoking behavior.

From a non-associative perspective, nicotine, like other psychostimulants, can directly impact reinforcement from other stimuli in the environment. This effect is particularly robust with nicotine and has been emphasized in the "dual-reinforcement" model, which posits that nicotine maintains self-administration behavior as a primary reinforcer and a reinforcement enhancer (Caggiula et al. 2009; Donny et al. 2003). The reinforcement-enhancing properties of nicotine have been observed in experimental animals across age and sex, and, more recently, confirmed to impact behavior in humans. Responding for both unconditioned reinforcers (sensory stimuli, food reward) and conditioned reinforcers (nicotine and non-nicotine related) can be enhanced by nicotine. The magnitude of the enhancement is dependent

on the magnitude of the reinforcer and potentially the type of reinforcer and conditions under which it is available.

In sum, self-administration of nicotine in humans and the rodent model is sustained by three main actions: (1) nicotine acts as a relatively weak primary reinforcer; (2) nicotine can establish conditioned reinforcers in the environment through associative processes; and (3) nicotine can potentiate the incentive valence of other stimuli with reinforcing value. Other actions may also be important (e.g., nicotine as a CS), but future studies will be needed to confirm these effects. These studies confirm that nicotine is the key psychoactive determinant of tobacco product use; however, it is much more insidious than might be expected. Thus, understanding how nicotine acts to maintain behavior is still at the heart of reducing the burden of tobacco dependence.

Acknowledgments Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institute on Drug Abuse (R01 DA010464) and FDA Center for Tobacco Products (CTP) (U54 DA031659). The funding source had no other role other than financial support. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH or the Food and Drug Administration.

References

Abelson PH (1995) Flaws in risk assessments. Science 270:215

Adriani W, Spijker S, Deroche-Gamonet V, Laviola G, Le Moal M, Smit AB, Piazza PV (2003) Evidence for enhanced neurobehavioral vulnerability to nicotine during periadolescence in rats. J Neurosci 23:4712–4716

Adriani W, Deroche-Gamonet V, Le Moal M, Laviola G, Piazza PVV (2006) Preexposure during or following adolescence differently affects nicotine-rewarding properties in adult rats. Psychopharmacology 184:382–390

Amit Z, Brown Z, Rockman G (1977) Possible involvement of acetaldehyde, norepinephrine and their tetrahydroisoquinoline derivatives in the regulation of ethanol self-administration. Drug Alcohol Depend 2:495–500

Ator NA, Griffiths RR (2003) Principles of drug abuse liability assessment in laboratory animals. Drug Alcohol Depend 70:S55–S72

Attwood AS, Penton-Voak IS, Munafo MR (2009) Effects of acute nicotine administration on ratings of attractiveness of facial cues. Nicotine Tob Res 11:44–48

Bardo MT, Green TA, Crooks PA, Dwoskin LP (1999) Nornicotine is self-administered intravenously by rats. Psychopharmacology 146:290–296

Barr RS, Pizzagalli DA, Culhane MA, Goff DC, Evins AE (2008) A single dose of nicotine enhances reward responsiveness in nonsmokers: implications for development of dependence. Biol Psychiatry 63:1061–1065

Barret ST, Bevins RA (2013) Nicotine enhances operant responding for qualitatively distinct reinforcers under maintenance and extinction conditions. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 114–115:9–15

Becker JB, Hu M (2008) Sex differences in drug abuse. Front Neuroendocrinol 29:36-47

Belluzzi JD, Lee AG, Oliff HS, Leslie FM (2004) Age-dependent effects of nicotine on locomotor activity and conditioned place preference in rats. Psychopharmacology 174:389–395

Belluzzi JD, Wang R, Leslie FM (2005) Acetaldehyde enhances acquisition of nicotine self-administration in adolescent rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 30:705–712

- Beninger RJ, Hanson DR, Phillips AG (1980) The acquisition of responding with conditioned reinforcement: effects of cocaine, (+)-amphetamine and pipradrol. Br J Pharmacol 1:149–154
- Benowitz NL (1990) Pharmacokinetic considerations in understanding nicotine dependence. In: The biology of nicotine dependence, Ciba Foundation Symposium, Wiley, New York
- Benowitz NL, Hatsukami D (1998) Gender differences in the pharmacology of nicotine addiction. Addict Biol 3:383–404
- Berchtold NC, Cribbs DH, Coleman PD, Rogers J, Head E, Kim R, Beach T, Miller C, Troncoso J, Trojanowski JQ (2008) Gene expression changes in the course of normal brain aging are sexually dimorphic. Proc Nat Acad Sci 105:15605–15610
- Berlin I, Said S, Spreux-Varoquaux O, Olivares R, Launay JM, Puech AJ (1995) Monoamine oxidase A and B activities in heavy smokers. Biol Psychiatry 38:756–761
- Berridge KC, Robinson TE (2003) Parsing reward. Trends Neurosci 26:507-513
- Besheer J, Palmatier MI, Metschke DM, Bevins, RA (2004) Nicotine as a signal for the presence or absence of sucrose reward: a Pavlovian drug appetitive conditioning preparation in rats. Psychopharmacology 172:108–117
- Bevins RA (2009) Altering the motivational function of nicotine through conditioning processes. Nebr Symp Motiv 55:111–129
- Bouton ME (2011) Learning and the persistence of appetite: extinction and the motivation to eat and overeat. Physiol Behav 103:51–58
- Brady KT, Randall CL (1999) Gender differences in substance use disorders. Psychiatr Clin North Am 22:241–252
- Breslau N, Peterson EL (1996) Smoking cessation in young adults: age at initiation of cigarette smoking and other suspected influences. Am J Public Health 86:214–220
- Brielmaier JM, McDonald CG, Smith RF (2007) Immediate and long-term behavioral effects of a single nicotine injection in adolescent and adult rats. Neurotoxicol Teratol 29:74–80
- Brown Z, Amit Z, Rockman G (1979) Intraventricular self-administration of acetaldehyde, but not ethanol, in naive laboratory rats. Psychopharmacology 64:271–276
- Busto U, Sellers EM (1986) Pharmacokinetic determinants of drug abuse and dependence. A conceptual perspective. Clin Pharmacokinet 11:144–153
- Caggiula AR, Donny EC, White AR, Chaudhri N, Booth S, Gharib MA, Sved AF (2001) Cue dependency of nicotine self-administration and smoking. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 70:515–530
- Caggiula AR, Donny EC, Chaudhri N, Perkins KA, Evans-Martin FF, Sved AF (2002a) Importance of nonpharmacological factors in nicotine self-administration. Physiol Behav 77:683–687
- Caggiula AR, Donny EC, White AR, Chaudhri N, Booth S, Gharib MA, Sved AF (2002b) Environmental stimuli promote the acquisition of nicotine self-administration in rats. Psychopharmacology 163:230–237
- Caggiula AR, Donny EC, Palmatier MI, Liu X, Chaudhri N, Sved AF (2009) The role of nicotine in smoking: a dual-reinforcement model. Nebr Symp Motiv 55:91–109
- Caine SB, Collins GT, Thomsen M, Wright C, Lanier RK, Mello NK (2014) Nicotine-like behavioral effects of the minor tobacco alkaloids nornicotine, anabasine, and anatabine in male rodents. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 22:9–22
- Carroll ME, Lynch WJ, Roth ME, Morgan AD, Cosgrove KP (2004) Sex and estrogen influence drug abuse. Trends Pharmacol Sci 25:273–279
- CDC (2010) Cigarette use among high school students-United States, 1991–2009. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep (MMWR) 59:797
- CDC (2012) Current cigarette smoking among adults-United States, 2011. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep (MMWR) 61:889–894
- Chambers RA, Taylor JR, Potenza MN (2003) Developmental neurocircuitry of motivation in adolescence: a critical period of addiction vulnerability. Am J Psychiatry 160:1041–1052
- Chaudhri N, Caggiula AR, Donny EC, Booth S, Gharib MA, Craven LA, Perkins KA (2005) Sex differences in the contribution of nicotine and nonpharmacological stimuli to nicotine selfadministration in rats. Psychopharmacology 180:258–266

- Chaudhri N, Caggiula AR, Donny EC, Booth S, Gharib M, Craven L, Sved AF (2006a) Operant responding for conditioned and unconditioned reinforcers in rats is differentially enhanced by the primary reinforcing and reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine. Psychopharmacology 189:27–36
- Chaudhri N, Caggiula AR, Donny EC, Palmatier MI, Liu X, Sved AF (2006b) Complex interactions between nicotine and nonpharmacological stimuli reveal multiple roles for nicotine in reinforcement. Psychopharmacology 184:353–366
- Chaudhri N, Caggiula AR, Donny EC, Booth S, Gharib M, Craven L, Sved SF (2007) Self-administered and noncontingent nicotine enhance reinforced operant responding in rats: impact of nicotine dose and reinforcement schedule. Psychopharmacology 190:353–362
- Chen H, Matta SG, Sharp BM (2007) Acquisition of nicotine self-administration in adolescent rats given prolonged access to the drug. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:700–709
- Cheskin LJ, Hess JM, Henningfield J, Gorelick DA (2005) Calorie restriction increases cigarette use in adult smokers. Psychopharmacology 179:430–436
- Choi K, Fabian L, Mottey N, Corbett A, Forster J (2012) Young adults' favorable perceptions of snus, dissolvable tobacco products, and electronic cigarettes: findings from a focus group study. Am J Public Health 102:2088–2093
- Clemens KJ, Caillé S, Stinus L, Cador M (2009) The addition of five minor tobacco alkaloids increases nicotine-induced hyperactivity, sensitization and intravenous self-administration in rats. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 12:1355–1366
- Cohen A, Koob GF, George O (2012) Robust escalation of nicotine intake with extended access to nicotine self-administration and intermittent periods of abstinence. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:2153–2160
- Cohen C, Perrault G, Griebel G, Soubrie P (2005) Nicotine-associated cues maintain nicotine-seeking behavior in rats several weeks after nicotine withdrawal: reversal by the cannabinoid (CB1) receptor antagonist, rimonabant (SR141716). Neuropsychopharmacology 30:145–155
- Conklin CA, Tiffany S (2002a) Cue-exposure treatment: time for change. Addiction 97:1219–1221
- Conklin CA, Tiffany ST (2002b) Applying extinction research and theory to cue-exposure addiction treatments. Addiction 97:155–167
- Conklin CA, Perkins KA, Robin N, McClernon FG, Salkeld RP (2010) Bringing real world into the laboratory: person smoking and nonsmoking environments. Drug Alcohol Depend 111:58–63
- Correa M, Salamone JD, Segovia KN, Pardo M, Longoni R, Spina L, Peana AT, Vinci S, Acquas E (2012) Piecing together the puzzle of acetaldehyde as a neuroactive agent. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 36:404–430
- Corrigall WA (1999) Nicotine self-administration in animals as a dependence model. Nicotine Tob Res 1:11–20
- Corrigall WA, Coen KM (1989) Nicotine maintains robust self-administration in rats on a limited-access schedule. Psychopharmacology 99:473–478
- Costello MR, Reynaga DD, Mojica CY, Zaveri NT, Belluzzi JD, Leslie FM (2014) Comparison of the reinforcing properties of nicotine and cigarette smoke extract in rats. Neuropsychopharmacol 39:1843–1851
- Crooks PA, Li M, Dwoskin LP (1997) Metabolites of nicotine in rat brain after peripheral nicotine administration cotinine, nornicotine, and norcotinine. Drug Metab Dispos 25:47–54
- Dawkins LPJ, West R, Powell J, Pickering A (2007) A double-blind placebo-controlled experimental study of nicotine: II–Effects on response inhibition and executive functioning. Psychopharmacology 190:457–467
- Deng XS, Deitrich RA (2008) Putative role of brain acetaldehyde in ethanol addiction. Current drug abuse reviews 1:3–8
- DeNoble VJ, Mele PC (1983) Behavioral pharmacology annual report. Philip Morris Tobacco Resolution. Bates no. 20605661. Available at http://www.pmdocs.com/getallimg.asp%3Fif%BCavpidx

- Donny EC, Jones M (2009) Prolonged exposure to denicotinized cigarettes with or without transdermal nicotine. Drug Alcohol Depend 104:23–33
- Donny EC, Caggiula AR, Knopf S, Brown C (1995) Nicotine self-administration in rats. Psychopharmacology 122:390–394
- Donny EC, Caggiula AR, Mielke MM, Jacobs KS, Rose C, Sved AF (1998) Acquisition of nicotine self-administration in rats: the effects of dose, feeding schedule, and drug contingency. Psychopharmacology 136:83–90
- Donny EC, Caggiula AR, Mielke MM, Booth S, Gharib MA, Hoffman A, McCallum SE (1999) Nicotine self-administration in rats on a progressive ratio schedule of reinforcement. Psychopharmacology 147:135–142
- Donny EC, Caggiula AR, Rowell PP, Gharib MA, Maldovan V, Booth S, McCallum S (2000) Nicotine self-administration in rats: estrous cycle effects, sex differences and nicotinic receptor binding. Psychopharmacology 151:392–405
- Donny EC, Chaudhri N, Caggiula AR, Evans-Martin FF, Booth S, Gharib MA, Sved AF (2003) Operant responding for a visual reinforcer in rats is enhanced by noncontingent nicotine: implications for nicotine self-administration and reinforcement. Psychopharmacology 169:68–76
- Donny EC, Houtsmuller E, Stitzer ML (2007) Smoking in the absence of nicotine: behavioral, subjective and physiological effects over 11 days. Addiction 102:324–334
- Donny EC, Caggiula AR, Weaver MT, Levin ME, Sved AF (2011) The reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine: implications for the relationship between smoking, eating and weight. Physiol Behav 104:143–148
- Duffy PH, Feuers R, Hart RW (1990) Effect of chronic caloric restriction on the circadian regulation of physiological and behavioral variables in old male B6C3F1 mice. Chronobiol Int 7:291–303
- Farre M, Cami J (1991) Pharmacokinetic considerations in abuse liability evaluation. Br J Addict 86:1601–1606
- Feltenstein MW, Ghee SM, See RE (2012) Nicotine self-administration and reinstatement of nicotine-seeking in male and female rats. Drug Alcohol Depend 121:240–246
- Flagel SB, Watson SJ, Akil H, Robinson TE (2008) Individual differences in the attribution of incentive salience to a reward-related cue: influence on cocaine sensitization. Behav Brain Res 186:48–56
- Fowler CD, Kenny PJ (2011) Intravenous nicotine self-administration and cue-induced reinstatement in mice: effects of nicotine dose, rate of drug infusion and prior instrumental training. Neuropharmacology 61:687–698
- Fowler HARRY (1971) Implications of sensory reinforcement. The nature of reinforcement, Academic Press, New York, 151–195
- Fowler JS, Volkow ND, Wang G-J, Pappas N, Logan J, Shea C, Alexoff D, MacGregor RR, Schlyer DJ, Zezulkova I (1996a) Brain monoamine oxidase a inhibition in cigarette smokers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:14065–14069
- Fowler J, Volkow N, Wang G-J, Pappas N, Logan J, MacGregor R, Alexoff D, Shea C, Schlyer D, Wolf A (1996b) Inhibition of monoamine oxidase B in the brains of smokers. Nature 379:733–736
- Goldberg SR, Spealman RD, Risner ME, Henningfield JE (1983) Control of behavior by intravenous nicotine injections in laboratory animals. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 19:1011–1020
- Grebenstein P, Burroughs D, Zhang Y, LeSage MG (2013) Sex differences in nicotine self-administration in rats during progressive unit dose reduction: implications for nicotine regulation policy. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 114–115:70–81
- Guillem K, Vouillac C, Azar MR, Parsons LH, Koob GF, Cador M, Stinus L (2005) Monoamine oxidase inhibition dramatically increases the motivation to self-administer nicotine in rats. J Neurosci 25:8593–8600
- Hall BJ, Wells C, Allenby C, Lin MY, Hao I, Marshall L, Levin ED (2014) Differential effects of non-nicotine tobacco constituent compounds on nicotine self-administration in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 120:103–108

- Harrison AA, Gasparini F, Marlou A (2002) Nicotine potentiation of brain stimulation reward reversed by DH beta E and SCH 23390, but not my eticlopride, LY 314582, or MPEP in rats. Psychopharmacology 160:56–66
- Harrington GM (1963) Stimulus intensity stimulus satiation and optimum stimulation with light-contingent bar-press. Psychological Reports 13:107–111
- Harvey DM, Yasar S, Heishman SJ, Panlilio LV, Henningfield JE, Goldberg SR (2004) Nicotine serves as an effective reinforcer of intravenous drug-taking behavior in human cigarette smokers. Psychopharmacology 175:134–142
- Henningfield JE, Goldberg SR (1983) Nicotine as a reinforcer in human subjects and laboratory animals. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 19:989–992
- Hoffman AC, Evans SE (2013) Abuse potential of non-nicotine tobacco smoke components: acetaldehyde, nornicotine, cotinine, and anabasine. Nicotine Tob Res 15:622–632
- Houlgate PR, Dhingra KS, Nash SJ, Evans WH (1989) Determination of formaldehyde and acetaldehyde in mainstream cigarette smoke by high-performance liquid chromatography. Analyst 114:355–360
- Huang H-Y, Hsieh S-H (2007) Analyses of tobacco alkaloids by cation-selective exhaustive injection sweeping microemulsion electrokinetic chromatography. J Chromatogr A 1164:313–319
- Jensvold MF, Hamilton JA, Halbreich U (1996) Future research directions: methodological considerations for advancing gender-sensitive pharmacology. American Psychiatric Association, Arlington, VA, USA, pp 415–430
- Johnson MW, Bickel WK, Kirshenbaum AP (2004) Substitutes for tobacco smoking: a behavioral economic analysis of nicotine gum, denicotinized cigarettes, and nicotine-containing cigarettes. Drug Alcohol Depend 74:253–264
- Juliano LM, Donny EC, Houtsmuller EJ, Stitzer ML (2006) Experimental evidence for a causal relationship between smoking lapse and relapse. J Abnorm Psychol 115:166–173
- Kenny PJ, Markou A (2006) Nicotine self-administration acutely activates brain reward systems and induces a long-lasting increase in reward sensitivity. Neuropsychopharmacology 31:1203–1211
- Kim JYS, Fendrich M (2002) Gender differences in juvenile arrestees' drug use, self-reported dependence, and perceived need for treatment. Psychiatric Services 53:70–75
- Kota D, Martin BR, Robinson SE, Damaj MI (2007) Nicotine dependence and reward differ between adolescent and adult male mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 322:399–407
- Kotz D, Brown J, West R (2014) 'Real-world' effectiveness of smoking cessation treatments: a population study. Addiction 109:491–499
- Kyerematen G, Owens G, Chattopadhyay B, Vesell E (1988) Sexual dimorphism of nicotine metabolism and distribution in the rat. Studies in vivo and in vitro. Drug Metab Dispos 16:823–828
- Lang WJ, Latiff AA, McQueen A, Singer G (1977) Self administration of nicotine with and without a food delivery schedule. Pharmcol Biochem Behav 7:65–70
- Lanza ST, Donny EC, Collins LM, Balster RL (2004) Analyzing the acquisition of drug self-administration using growth curve models. Drug Alcohol Depend 75:11–21
- Lazev AB, Herzog TA, Brandon TH (1999) Classical conditions of environmental cues to cigarette smoking. Clinical Trial. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 7:56–63
- Le Foll B, Goldberg SR (2005) Control of the reinforcing effects of nicotine by associated environmental stimuli in animals and humans. Trends Pharmacol Sci 26:287–293
- LeSage MG, Burroughs D, Dufek M, Keyler DE, Pentel PR (2004) Reinstatement of nicotine self-administration in rats by presentation of nicotine-paired stimuli, but not nicotine priming. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 79:507–513
- Leslie FM, Mojica CY, Reynaga DD (2013) Nicotinic receptors in addiction pathways. Mol Pharmacol 83:753–758
- Levin ED, Rezvani AH, Montoya D, Rose JE, Swartzwelder HS (2003) Adolescent-onset nicotine self-administration modeled in female rats. Psychopharmacology 169:141–149
- Levin ED, Lawrence SS, Petro A, Horton K, Rezvani AH, Seidler FJ, Slotkin TA (2007) Adolescent vs. adult-onset nicotine self-administration in male rats: duration of effect and differential nicotinic receptor correlates. Neurotoxicol Teratol 29:458–465

- Levin ED, Slade S, Wells C, Cauley M, Petro A, Vendittelli A, Johnson M, Williams P, Horton K, Rezvani AH (2011) Threshold of adulthood for the onset of nicotine self-administration in male and female rats. Behav Brain Res 225:473–481
- Levin ME, Weaver MT, Palmatier MI, Caggiula AR, Sved AF, Donny EC (2012) Varenicline dose dependently enhances responding for nonpharmacological reinforcers and attenuates the reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine. Nicotine Tob Res 14:299–305
- Li S, Zou S, Coen K, Funk D, Shram MJ, Le AD (2014) Sex differences in yohimbine-induced increases in the reinforcing efficacy of nicotine in adolescent rats. Addict Biol 19:156–164
- Liu X, Caggiula AR, Yee SK, Nobuta H, Sved AF, Pechnick RN, Poland RE (2007) Mecamylamine attenuates cue-induced reinstatement of nicotine-seeking behavior in rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:710–718
- Liu X, Caggiula AR, Palmatier MI, Donny EC, Sved AF (2008) Cue-induced reinstatement of nicotine-seeking behavior in rats: effect of bupropion, persistence over repeated tests, and its dependence on training dose. Psychopharmacology 196:365–375
- Liu X, Jernigen C, Gharib M, Booth S, Caggiula AR, Sved AF (2010) Effects of dopamine antagonists on drug cue-induced reinstatement of nicotine-seeking behavior in rats. Behav Pharmacol 21:153–160
- Loftipour Arnold SMM, Hogenkamp DJ, Gee KW, Belluzzi JD, Leslie FM (2011) The monoamine oxidase (MAO) inhibitor transleypromine enhances nicotine self-administration in rats through a mechanism independent of MAO inhibition. Neuropharm 61:95–104
- Lynch WJ (2006) Sex differences in vulnerability to drug self-administration. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 14:34–41
- Lynch WJ (2009) Sex and ovarian hormones influence vulnerability and motivation for nicotine during adolescence in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 94:43–50
- Lynch WJ, Roth ME, Carroll ME (2002) Biological basis of sex differences in drug abuse: preclinical and clinical studies. Psychopharmacology 164:121–137
- Markou A, Paterson NE (2009) Multiple motivational forces contribute to nicotine dependence. In: Bevins RA, Caggiula AR (eds) Nebraska Symposium on Motivation: The motivational impact of nicotine and its role in tobacco use, vol 55. Springer Science + Business Media, New York, pp 65–89
- Matta SG, Balfour DJ, Benowitz NL, Boyd RT, Buccafusco JJ, Caggiula AR, Zirger JM (2007) Guidelines on nicotine dose selection for in vivo research. Psychopharmacology 190:269–319
- McColl S, Sellers EM (2006) Research design strategies to evaluate the impact of formulations on abuse liability. Drug Alcohol Depend 83(Suppl. 1):S52–S62
- McKee SA, Maciejewski PK, Falba T, Mazure CM (2003) Sex differences in the effects of stressful life events on changes in smoking status. Addiction 98:847–855
- Melis M, Enrico P, Peana AT, Diana M (2007) Acetaldehyde mediates alcohol activation of the mesolimbic dopamine system. Eur J Neurosci 26:2824–2833
- Mello NK, Fivel PA, Kohut SJ, Caine SB (2014) Anatabine significantly decreases nicotine self-administration. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 22:1–8
- Meyer PJ, Ma ST, Robinson TE (2011) A cocaine cue is more preferred and evokes more frequency-modulated 50 kHz ultrasonic vocalizations in rats prone to attribute incentive salience to a food cue. Psychopharmacology 219:999–1009
- Myers WD, Ng KT, Singer G (1982) Intravenous self-administration of acetaldehyde in the rat as a function of schedule, food deprivation and photoperiod. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 17:807–811
- Myers WD, Ng KT, Singer G (1984a) Effects of naloxone and buprenorphine on intravenous acetaldehyde self-injection in rats. Physiol Behav 33:449–455
- Myers W, Ng K, Singer G (1984b) Ethanol preference in rats with a prior history of acetaldehyde self-administration. Cell Mol Life Sci 40:1008–1010
- Natividad LA, Torres OV, Friedman TC, O'Dell LE (2013) Adolescence is a period of development characterized by short-and long-term vulnerability to the rewarding effects of nicotine and reduced sensitivity to the anorectic effects of this drug. Behav Brain Res 257:275–285
- O'Dell LE, Torres OV (2014) A mechanistic hypothesis of the factors that enhance vulnerability to nicotine use in females. Neuropharmacology 76:566–580

- O'Dell LE, Chen SA, Smith RT, Specio SE, Balster RL, Paterson NE, Koob GF (2007) Extended access to nicotine self-administration leads to dependence: Circadian measures, withdrawal measures, and extinction behavior in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 320:180–193
- O'Hara P, Portser SA, Anderson BP (1989) The influence of menstrual cycle changes on the tobacco withdrawal syndrome in women. Addict Behav 14:595–600
- Palmatier MI, Evans-Martin FF, Hoffman A, Caggiula AR, Chaudhri N, Donny EC, Sved AF (2006) Dissociating the primary reinforcing and reinforcement-enhancing effects of nicotine using a rat self-administration paradigm with concurrently available drug and environmental reinforcers. Psychopharmacology 184:391–400
- Palmatier MI, Liu X, Matteson GL, Donny EC, Caggiula AR, Sved AF (2007) Conditioned reinforcement in rats established with self-administered nicotine and enhanced by noncontingent nicotine. Psychopharmacology 195:235–243
- Palmatier MI, Liu X, Donny EC, Caggiula AR, Sved AF (2008) Metabotropic glutamate five receptor (mGluR5) antagonists decrease nicotine seeking, but do not affect the reinforcement enhancing effects of nicotine. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:2139–2147
- Palmatier MI, Levin ME, Mays KL, Donny EC, Caggiula AR, Sved AF (2009) Bupropion and nicotine enhance responding for nondrug reinforcers via dissociable pharmacological mechanisms in rats. Psychopharmacology 207:381–390
- Palmatier MI, O'Brien LC, Hall MJ (2012) The role of conditioning history and reinforcer strength in the reinforcement enhancing effects of nicotine in rats. Psychopharmacology 219:1119–1131
- Paterson NE, Markou A (2004) Prolonged nicotine dependence associated with extended access to nicotine self-administration in rats. Psychopharmacology 173:64–72
- Pavlov IP (1927) Conditioned reflexes. An investigation of the physiological activity of the cerebral cortex. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Peana AT, Enrico P, Assaretti AR, Pulighe E, Muggironi G, Nieddu M, Piga A, Lintas A, Diana M (2008) Key role of ethanol-derived acetaldehyde in the motivational properties induced by intragastric ethanol: a conditioned place preference study in the rat. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 32:249–258
- Peana AT, Muggironi G, Diana M (2010) Acetaldehyde-reinforcing effects: a study on oral selfadministration behavior. Frontiers in Psychiatry 1:23
- Peana AT, Muggironi G, Fois GR, Zinellu M, Vinci S, Acquas E (2011) Effect of opioid receptor blockade on acetaldehyde self-administration and ERK phosphorylation in the rat nucleus accumbens. Alcohol 45:773–783
- Peartree NA, Sanabria F, Thiel KJ, Weber SM, Cheung TH, Neisewander JL (2012) A new criterion for acquisition of nicotine self-administration in rats. Drug Alcohol Depend 124:63–69
- Perkins KA (2009) Does smoking cue-induced craving tell us anything important about nicotine dependence? Addiction 104:1610–1616
- Perkins KA (2009) Sex differences in nicotine reinforcement and reward: influences on the persistence of tobacco smoking. Nebr Symp Motiv 55:143–169
- Perkins KA, Sexton JE, Reynolds WA, Grobe JE, Fonte C, Stiller RL (1994) Comparison of acute subjective and heart rate effects of nicotine intake via tobacco smoking versus nasal spray. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 47:295–299
- Perkins KA, Karelitz JL (2013a) Influence of reinforcer magnitude and nicotine amount on smoking's acute reinforcement enhancing effects. Drug Alcohol Depend 133:167–171
- Perkins KA, Karelitz JL (2013b) Reinforcement enhancing effects of nicotine via smoking. Psychopharmacology 228:479–486
- Perkins KA, Donny E, Caggiula AR (1999) Sex differences in nicotine effects and self-administration: review of human and animal evidence. Nicotine Tob Res 1:301–315
- Perkins KA, Gerlach D, Vender J, Meeker J, Hutchison S, Grobe J (2001) Sex differences in the subjective and reinforcing effects of visual and olfactory cigarette smoke stimuli. Nicotine Tob Res 3:141–150
- Perkins KA, Jacobs L, Sanders M, Caggiula AR (2002) Sex differences in the subjective and reinforcing effects of cigarette nicotine dose. Psychopharmacology 163:194–201

- Perkins KA, Karelitz JL, Giedgowd GE, Conklin CA (2013) Negative mood effects on craving to smoke in women versus men. Addict Behav 38:1527–1531
- Picciotto MR, Caldarone BJ, Brunzell DH, Zachariou V, Stevens TR, King SL (2001) Neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit knockout mice: physiological and behavioral phenotypes and possible clinical implications. Pharmacol Ther 92:89–108
- Quertemont E, De Witte P (2001) Conditioned stimulus preference after acetaldehyde but not ethanol injections. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 68:449–454
- Rescorla RA, Solomon RL (1967) Two-process learning theory: relationships between Pavlovian conditioning and instrumental learning. Psychol Rev 74:151–182
- Robbins TW, Koob GF (1978) Pipradrol enhances reinforcing properties of stimuli paired with brain stimulation. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 8:219–222
- Robinson TE, Berridge KC (2000) The psychology and neurobiology of addiction: an incentivesensitization view. Addiction 95:S91–S117
- Robinson TE, Yager LM, Cogan ES, Saunders BT (2014) On the motivational properties of reward cues: individual differences. Neuropharmacology 76:450–459
- Rodd-Henricks ZA, Melendez RI, Zaffaroni A, Goldstein A, McBride WJ, Li T-K (2002) The reinforcing effects of acetaldehyde in the posterior ventral tegmental area of alcohol-preferring rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 72:55–64
- Rose JE, Behm FM, Westman EC, Coleman RE (1999) Arterial nicotine kinetics during cigarette smoking and intravenous nicotine administration: implications for addiction. Drug Alcohol Depend 56:99–107
- Rose JE, Behm FM, Westman EC, Johnson M (2000) Dissociating nicotine and nonnicotine components of cigarette smoking. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 67:71-81
- Russell MAH, Feyerabend C (1978) Cigarette smoking: a dependence on high-nicotine boli. Drug Metab Rev 8:29–57
- Russell JC, Epling WF, Pierce D, Amy RM, Boer DP (1987) Induction of voluntary prolonged running by rats. J Appl Physiol 63:2549–2553
- Samaha A-N, Robinson TE (2005) Why does the rapid delivery of drugs to the brain promote addiction? Trends Pharmacol Sci 26:82–87
- Saunders BT, Robinson TE (2011) Individual variation in the motivational properties of cocaine. Neuropsychopharmacology 36:1668–1676
- Sayette MA, Tiffany ST (2013) Peak-provoked craving deserves a seat at the research table. Addiction 108:1030–1031
- Schassburger RL, Rupprecht LE, Smith TT, Buffalari DM, Thiels E, Donny EC, Sved AF (2013) Nicotine enhances the rewarding properties of sucrose. Paper presented at the Society for Neuroscience, San Diego, California
- Schnoll RA, Patterson F, Lerman C (2007) Treating tobacco dependence in women. J Women's Health 16:1211–1218
- Shram MJ, Funk D, Li Z, Lê AD (2008a) Nicotine self-administration, extinction responding and reinstatement in adolescent and adult male rats: evidence against a biological vulnerability to nicotine addiction during adolescence. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:739–748
- Shram MJ, Li Z, Lê AD (2008b) Age differences in the spontaneous acquisition of nicotine self-administration in male Wistar and Long-Evans rats. Psychopharmacology 197:45–58
- Siegel S (1988) Drug anticipation and the treatment of dependence. NIDA Res Monogr 84:1–24 Singer G, Simpson F, Lang WJ (1978) Schedule induced self injections of nicotine with recovered body weight. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 9:387–389
- Skinner BF (1953) Science and Human Behavior. Macmillan, New York
- Smith B, Amit Z, Splawinsky J (1984) Conditioned place preference induced by intraventricular infusions of acetaldehyde. Alcohol 1:193–195
- Smith TT, Levin ME, Schassburger RL, Buffalari DM, Sved AF, Donny EC (2013) Gradual and immediate nicotine reduction result in similar low-dose nicotine self-administration. Nicotine Tob Res 15:1918–1925

- Smith TT, Schassburgher RL, Rupprecht LE, Buffalari DM, Sved AF, Donny EC (2014a) Effects of tranylcypromine, an irreversible monoamine oxidase (MAO) inhibitor, on nicotine self-administration in rats. Paper presentation at the annual meeting of the association for behavior analysis international, Chicago, Illinois
- Smith TT, Schassburger RL, Buffalari DM, Sved AF, Donny EC (2014b) Low dose nicotine self-administration is reduced in adult male rats naïve to high doses of nicotine: implications for nicotine product standards. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0037396
- Sofuoglu M, Yoo S, Hill KP, Mooney M (2008) Self-administration of intravenous nicotine in male and female cigarette smokers. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:715–720
- Sorge RE, Clarke PB (2009) Rats self-administer intravenous nicotine delivered in a novel smokingrelevant procedure: effects of dopamine antagonists. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 330:633–640
- Sorge RE, Pierre VJ, Clarke PB (2009) Facilitation of intravenous nicotine self-administration in rats by a motivationally neutral sensory stimulus. Psychopharmacology 207:191–200
- Speakman JR, Mitchel SE (2011) Caloric Restriction. Mol Aspects Med 32:159-221
- Spear LP (2000) The adolescent brain and age-related behavioral manifestations. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 24:417–463
- Spina L, Longoni R, Vinci S, Ibba F, Peana AT, Muggironi G, Spiga S, Acquas E (2010) Role of dopamine D1 receptors and extracellular signal regulated kinase in the motivational properties of acetaldehyde as assessed by place preference conditioning. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 34:607–616
- Stolerman IP (1989) Discriminative stimulus effects of nicotine in rats trained under different schedules of reinforcement. Psychopharmacology 97:131–138
- Stolerman IP (1999) Inter-species consistency in the behavioural pharmacology of nicotine dependence. Behav Pharmacol 10:559–580
- Stolerman IP, Jarvis M (1995) The scientific case that nicotine is addictive. Psychopharmacology 117:2–10
- Takayama S, Uyeno E (1985) Intravenous self-administration of ethanol and acetaldehyde by rats. Japan J Psychopharmacol 5:329–334
- Tiffany ST (1990) A cognitive model of drug urges and drug-use behavior: role of automatic and nonautomatic processes. Psychol Rev 97:147–168
- Torres OV, Tejeda HA, Natividad LA, O'Dell LE (2008) Enhanced vulnerability to the rewarding effects of nicotine during the adolescent period of development. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 90:658–663
- USDHHS (1988) Office of the Surgeon General DHHS Publication no. (CDC): 88-8406.0. The health consequences of smoking: nicotine addiction: a report of the surgeon general. Center for Health Promotion and Education. Office on Smoking and Health United States. Public Health Service
- USDHHS (2012) Preventing tobacco use among youth and young adults: a report of the Surgeon General. US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health, Atlanta, GA, 3
- Vastola BJ, Douglas LA, Varlinskaya EI, Spear LP (2002) Nicotine-induced conditioned place preference in adolescent and adult rats. Physiol Behav 77:107–114
- Villegier AS, Lotfipour S, Belluzzi JD, Leslie FM (2007a) Involvement of alpha1-adrenergic receptors in transleypromine enhancement of nicotine self-administration in rat. Psychopharmacology 193:457–465
- Villegier AS, Lotfipour S, McQuown SC, Belluzzi JD, Leslie FM (2007b) Tranylcypromine enhancement of nicotine self-administration. Neuropharmacology 52:1415–1425
- Wakasa Y, Takada K, Yanagita T (1995) Reinforcing effect as a function of infusion speed in intravenous self-administration of nicotine in rhesus monkeys. Japan J Psychopharmacol 15:53–59
- Wertz JM, Sayette MA (2001) A review of the effects of perceived drug use opportunity of selfreported urge. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 9:3–13
- Wing VC, Shoaib M (2008) Contextual stimuli modulate extinction and reinstatement in rodents self-administering intravenous nicotine. Psychopharmacology 200:357–365

- Wing VC, Shoaib M (2013) Effect of infusion rate on intravenous nicotine self-administration in rats. Behav Pharmacol 24:517–522
- Wray JM, Godleski SA, Tiffany ST (2011) Cue-reactivity in the natural environment of cigarette smokers: the impact of photographic and in vivo smoking stimuli. Psychol Addict Behav 25:733–737
- Xie J, Yin J, Sun S, Xie F, Zhang X, Guo Y (2009) Extraction and derivatization in single drop coupled to MALDI-FTICR-MS for selective determination of small molecule aldehydes in single puff smoke. Anal Chim Acta 638:198–201
- Xu J, Azizian A, Monterosso J, Domier CP, Brody AL, London ED, Fong TW (2008) Gender effects on mood and cigarette craving during early abstinence and resumption of smoking. Nicotine Tob Res 10:1653–1661
- Yager LM, Robinson TE (2010) Cue-induced reinstatement of food seeking in rats that differ in their propensity to attribute incentive salience to food cues. Behav Brain Res 214:30–34
- Yan Y, Pushparaj A, Gamaleddin I, Steiner RC, Picciotto MR, Roder J, Le Foll B (2012) Nicotine-taking and nicotine-seeking in C57Bl/6 J mice without prior operant training or food restriction. Behav Brain Res 230:34–39
- Zou S, Funk D, Shram MJ, Le AD (2014) Effects of stressors on the reinforcing efficacy of nicotine in adolescent and adult rats. Psychopharmacology 231:1601–1614